

Initial trace of positive solutions to fractional diffusion equation with absorption

Huyuan Chen, Laurent Veron

▶ To cite this version:

Huyuan Chen, Laurent Veron. Initial trace of positive solutions to fractional diffusion equation with absorption. Journal of Functional Analysis, 2019, 276, pp.1145-1200. 10.1016/j.jfa.2018.10.013 . hal-01662134v4

HAL Id: hal-01662134 https://hal.science/hal-01662134v4

Submitted on 23 Oct 2018

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Initial trace of positive solutions to fractional diffusion equations with absorption

Huyuan Chen¹ Laurent Véron²

¹Department of Mathematics, Jiangxi Normal University, Nanchang 330022, China

²Laboratoire de Mathématiques et Physique Théorique Université de Tours, 37200 Tours, France

Abstract

In this paper, we prove the existence of an initial trace \mathcal{T}_u for any positive solution u to the semilinear fractional diffusion equation (H)

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + f(t, x, u) = 0$$
 in $(0, +\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$,

where $N \geq 1$, the operator $(-\Delta)^s$ with $s \in (0,1)$ is the fractional Laplacian, $f : \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}$ is a Caratheodory function satisfying $f(t, x, u)u \geq 0$ for all $(t, x, u) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\mathbb{R}_+ = [0, +\infty)$. We define the regular set of the trace \mathcal{T}_u as an open subset of $\mathcal{R}_u \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ carrying a nonnegative Radon measure ν_u such that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} u(t, x) \zeta(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} \zeta \, d\nu_u, \quad \forall \, \zeta \in C_0^2(\mathcal{R}_u),$$

and the singular set $\mathcal{S}_u = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \mathcal{R}_u$ as the set points a such that

$$\limsup_{t \to 0} \int_{B_{\rho}(a)} u(t, x) \, dx = +\infty \quad \text{for any } \rho > 0.$$

We also study the reverse problem of constructing a positive solution to (H) with a given initial trace (S, ν) , where $S \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is a closed set and ν is a positive Radon measure on $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus S$ and develop the case $f(t, x, u) = t^{\beta} u^p$ with $\beta > -1$ and p > 1.

Key words: Fractional heat equation, Initial trace, Singularities MSC2010: 35K55, 35R11, 35K99

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Initial trace with general nonlinearity	9
	2.1 Existence of an initial trace	9
	2.2 Pointwise estimates	14

¹chenhuyuan@yeah.net

²laurent.veron@lmpt.univ-tours.fr

3	The case $f(t, x, u) = t^{\beta} u^{p}$	20
	3.1 Proof of Theorem F	21
	3.2 Proof of Theorem G (i)	24
	3.3 Proof of Theorem G (ii)	25
4	Solution with a given initial trace: the general case	27
	4.1 Problem with initial data measure	27
	4.2 Barrier function for $N = 1$	31
	4.3 Solutions with initial trace $(\mathcal{S}, 0)$	35
	4.4 Proof of Theorem I	
	4.5 Proof of Corollary K, part (a)	38
5	The subcritical case	40
	5.1 Proof of Theorem J.	40
	5.2 Proof of Theorem L	42
6	Appendix: symmetry and monotonicity results	44

1 Introduction

The first aim of this paper is to study the existence of an *initial trace* of positive solutions to the semilinear fractional diffusion equation

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + f(t, x, u) = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty := \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N, \tag{1.1}$$

where $f: \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a Caratheodory function satisfying

$$f(t, x, u)u \ge 0, \quad \forall (t, x, u) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R},$$
 (1.2)

and $\mathbb{R}^*_+ = (0, +\infty)$. The fractional Laplacian $(-\Delta)^s$ with $s \in (0, 1)$ is defined in the principal value sense that

$$(-\Delta)^s u(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} (-\Delta)^s_{\varepsilon} u(x),$$

where

$$(-\Delta)_{\varepsilon}^{s}u(x) := -a_{N,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{u(z) - u(x)}{|z - x|^{N+2s}} \chi_{\varepsilon}(|x - z|) dz , \quad a_{N,s} = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{N}{2} + s)}{\pi^{\frac{N}{2}}\Gamma(2 - s)} s(1 - s), \quad (1.3)$$

for $\varepsilon > 0$ and

$$\chi_{\varepsilon}(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if} \quad r \in [0, \varepsilon] \\ 1 & \text{if} \quad r > \varepsilon. \end{cases}$$

The solutions of (1.1) are intended in the classical sense and, in order $(-\Delta)^s u(t,x)$ to be welldefined, we always assume that $u(t,.) \in \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for any t > 0, where

$$\mathcal{L}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) = \left\{ \phi \in L^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \text{ s.t. } \|\phi\|_{\mathcal{L}^{s}} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{|\phi(x)| \, dx}{1 + |x|^{N+2s}} < +\infty \right\}.$$
(1.4)

Notice that the constant functions belong to $\mathcal{L}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$. If $\omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{N}$ and $0 < T \leq +\infty$, we set $Q_{T}^{\omega} = (0,T) \times \omega$, $Q_{T}^{\mathbb{R}^{N}} = Q_{T}$, $Q_{\infty} = \mathbb{R}^{*}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N}$ and denote by $B_{\rho}(z)$ (resp. $K_{\rho}(z)$) the open ball (resp. open cube with sides parallel to the axis) with center $z \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$ and radius (side length) $\rho > 0$. We define the *regular set* of the initial trace of a positive solution u of (1.1) by

$$\mathcal{R}_{u} = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : \exists \rho > 0 \text{ s.t.} \iint_{Q_{1}^{B_{\rho}(z)}} f(t, x, u) \, dx \, dt < +\infty \right\}.$$
(1.5)

Clearly \mathcal{R}_u is open. The conditional singular set $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_u$ is $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \mathcal{R}_u$ and the conditional initial trace is the couple $Tr_c(u) := (\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_u, \nu)$. Our first result is the following statement which is the starting point of our work.

Theorem A Let u be a nonnegative classical solution of (1.1) and the regular set \mathcal{R}_u of u is given in (1.5), then there exists a nonnegative Radon measure ν_u on \mathcal{R}_u such that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} u(t, x)\zeta(x) \, dx = \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} \zeta \, d\nu_u, \quad \forall \zeta \in C_0^2(\mathcal{R}_u).$$
(1.6)

The problem of the initial trace of nonnegative solutions for semilinear heat equations was initiated by Marcus and Véron in [37] with equation

$$\partial_t u - \Delta u + u^p = 0 \quad \text{in } Q_\infty, \tag{1.7}$$

for p > 1. They showed the existence of an initial trace Tr(u) represented by a closed subset S_u of \mathbb{R}^N and a nonnegative Radon measure ν_u on $\mathcal{R}_u = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus S_u$. On \mathcal{R}_u the initial trace is achieved as in (1.6). On S_u they proved that for any $z \in S_u$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} u(t, x) dx = +\infty \quad \text{for any } \rho > 0.$$
(1.8)

They also highlighted the existence of a critical exponent $p_c = 1 + \frac{2}{N}$, which plays a crucial role in the fine analysis of the initial trace. For example they obtained that if p is *subcritical*, i.e. 1 , (1.6) can be sharpened in the form

$$c_2(p,N) \le \liminf_{t \to 0} t^{\frac{1}{p-1}} u(z,t) \le \limsup_{t \to 0} t^{\frac{1}{p-1}} u(z,t) \le c_1(p),$$
(1.9)

for some positive constants $c_1(p) > c_2(p, N)$. Furthermore they proved that for any couple (S, ν) , where S is a closed subset of \mathbb{R}^N and ν a nonnegative Radon measure on $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus S$, there exists a unique nonnegative solution u of (1.7) with the initial trace $Tr(u) = (S, \nu)$. The supercritical case $p \ge p_c$ turned out to be much more delicate and was finally elucidated in a series of works by Marcus and Véron [41] and Gkikas and Véron [32] following some deep ideas introduced by Marcus and Véron in [40] and Marcus [36] for solving similar questions dealing with semilinear elliptic equations. Al Sayed and Véron in [4] extended the subcritical analysis performed in [37] to the non-autonomous equation

$$\partial_t u - \Delta u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \quad \text{in } Q_\infty, \tag{1.10}$$

with $\beta > -1$ and p > 1. Note that the choice $\beta > -1$ is natural otherwise the initial trace would be essentially zero as it can be verified with the equation without absorption.

The main difficulty to extend some of the previous results dealing with (1.7) and (1.10) comes from the fact that the fractional Laplacian is a non-local operator. A more precise characterization of the conditional singular set needs additional assumptions on u or on f. We define the singular set S_u of u by

$$\mathcal{S}_{u} = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{R}^{N} : \limsup_{t \to 0} \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} u(t, x) dx = +\infty \text{ for any } \rho > 0 \right\}.$$
 (1.11)

This set is closed and it follows from Theorem A that $S_u \subset \tilde{S}_u$. The *initial trace* is the couple $Tr(u) := (S_u, \nu)$. This initial trace can also be seen as an outer regular Borel measure with regular part (or Radon part) ν and singular part S_u . When s = 1 then $Tr(u) = Tr_c(u)$ because the set S_u is also characterized as the set of $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ where

$$\int_0^{\frac{T}{2}} \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} f(t, x, u) dx dt = \infty \text{ for any } \rho > 0.$$

$$(1.12)$$

When 0 < s < 1 and no extra assumption on f are made, Tr(u) could be different from $Tr_c(u)$.

Theorem B Assume that u is a nonnegative solution of (1.1). If $u \in L^1(0,T; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$, then $\mathcal{S}_u = \tilde{\mathcal{S}}_u$ and more precisely for any $z \in \mathcal{S}_u$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} u(t, x) \, dx = +\infty \quad \text{for any } \rho > 0. \tag{1.13}$$

The above assumption on u can be verified when the absorption is strong and the singular set is compact. Another type of characterization of the singular set needs the following assumptions on f: f(t, x, u) satisfies f(t, x, 0) = 0 and

$$0 \le f(t, x, u) \le t^{\beta} g(u) \quad \forall (t, x, u) \in \mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{N} \times \mathbb{R}_{+},$$
(1.14)

where $\mathbb{R}_+ = [0, +\infty), \beta > -1, g$ is nondecreasing, continuous and verifies the subcritical growth assumption,

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} g(s)s^{-1-p_{\beta}^{*}}ds < +\infty, \qquad (1.15)$$

with

$$p_{\beta}^* = 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{N}.$$
(1.16)

The role of the subcritical growth assumption (1.1) has been highlighted in [28] as the natural condition to solve the initial value problem with a bounded positive Radon measure for equation (1.1) (see Section 2.2).

Theorem C Assume (1.14) and either (1.15) holds if $-1 < \beta \leq 0$, or

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} g(s)s^{-2-\frac{2s}{N}}ds < +\infty,$$
(1.17)

if $\beta > 0$. If u is a nonnegative solution of (1.1) with initial trace (\mathcal{S}_u, ν_u) . If $\mathcal{S}_u \neq \emptyset$ and $z \in \mathcal{S}_u$, then (1.13) holds. More precisely $u \ge u_{z,\infty}$ where $u_{z,\infty} = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_{k\delta_z}$ and $u_{k\delta_z}$ is the solution of

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta g(u) = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty$$

$$u(0, .) = k\delta_z. \tag{1.18}$$

The existence and uniqueness of solutions to (1.18) follow from [28, Th 1.1]. If $g : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is nondecreasing and satisfies that

$$\mathcal{G}(t) := \int_t^\infty \frac{ds}{g(s)} < +\infty \quad \text{for } t > 0, \tag{1.19}$$

and if $\beta > -1$, denote $U(t) = \mathcal{G}^{-1}(\frac{t^{\beta+1}}{\beta+1})$, where \mathcal{G}^{-1} is the inverse function of \mathcal{G} , then the function U verifies that

$$\int_{U(t)}^{\infty} \frac{ds}{g(s)} = \frac{t^{\beta+1}}{\beta+1},$$
(1.20)

and defines as the maximal solution of the ODE

 $\partial_t U + t^\beta g(U) = 0$ on \mathbb{R}^*_+ satisfying $U(0) = +\infty.$ (1.21)

Theorem D Assume that $f(t, x, r) \ge t^{\beta}g(r)$, where $\beta > -1$ and g satisfies (1.19). If u is a nonnegative solution of (1.1) belonging to $L^{1}_{loc}(0,T; \mathcal{L}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$, then

$$u(t,x) \le U(t), \quad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty}.$$
 (1.22)

Furthermore, if g satisfies

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} \frac{sds}{g(s) \left(\int_{s}^{\infty} \frac{d\tau}{g(\tau)}\right)^{\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}}} < +\infty, \tag{1.23}$$

then $S_u = \tilde{S}_u$ and (1.13) holds for any $z \in S_u$.

Theorem E Assume that $f(t, x, s) = t^{\beta}g(s)$, where $\beta > -1$ and g satisfies (1.19), is nondecreasing and is locally Lipschitz continuous. If u is a nonnegative solution of (1.1) belonging to $L^{1}_{loc}(0,T; \mathcal{L}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$, then either

$$u(t,x) < U(t), \quad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty}, \tag{1.24}$$

or

$$u(t,x) = U(t), \quad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty}.$$
(1.25)

In the second part of this paper we study in detail the initial trace problem for the equation

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty, \tag{1.26}$$

when $s \in (0,1)$, $\beta > -1$ and $p \in (1, p_{\beta}^*)$. A second critical value of p appears

$$p_{\beta}^{**} = 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{N+2s}.$$
(1.27)

Actually, if $u_k := u_{k\delta_0}$ is unique solution to

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty, u(0, \cdot) = k\delta_0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(1.28)

it is proved in [28] that $u_{\infty} = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_k$ is very different according $1 or <math>p_{\beta}^{**} .$ Precisely, (i) if <math>1 , then

$$u_{\infty}(t,x) = U_{p,\beta}(t) := \left(\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}.$$
(1.29)

The absorption is dominant, as if s = 0. (ii) If $p_{\beta}^{**} , then$

$$u_{\infty}(t,x) = V(t,x) := t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} v\left(\frac{x}{t^{\frac{1}{2s}}}\right),$$
(1.30)

where v is the minimal positive solution of

$$(-\Delta)^{s}v - \frac{1}{2s}\nabla v \cdot \eta - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}v + v^{p} = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^{N},$$
$$\lim_{|\eta| \to \infty} |\eta|^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1}}v(\eta) = 0.$$
(1.31)

The function V is called the very singular solution of (1.26). In this case the diffusion is dominant, as when s = 1.

We first prove the following result which complements Theorem C in the case where $\beta > 0$. The proof is delicate and uses a form of parabolic Harnack inequality valid for solutions of (1.26).

Theorem F Assume $\beta > -1$, 1 and <math>u is a nonnegative solution of (1.26) with initial trace (S_u, ν_u) . If $S_u \neq \emptyset$ and $z \in S_u$ then $u \ge u_{z,\infty}$.

We observe that $\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{u_{\infty}} = \mathcal{S}_{u_{\infty}} = \{0\}$ when $p_{\beta}^{**} and <math>\tilde{\mathcal{S}}_{u_{\infty}} = \mathcal{S}_{u_{\infty}} = \mathbb{R}^{N}$ when $1 . Notice that the case <math>p = p_{\beta}^{**}$ remained unsolved in [28]. In this paper, we prove that $\mathcal{S}_{u_{\infty}} = \mathbb{R}^{N}$ also for $p = p_{\beta}^{**}$. Our main result concerning (1.26) is the following.

Theorem G Let u be a positive solution of (1.26).

(i) If $p \in (1, p_{\beta}^{**}]$ and $S_u \neq \emptyset$. Then $S_u = \mathbb{R}^N$ and $u \geq U_{p,\beta}$. If we assume moreover that $u \in L^1_{loc}(0, \infty; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$, then $u = U_{p,\beta}$.

(ii) If there exists $\kappa \in [1, N] \cap \mathbb{N}$ such that $p \in (1, p_{\beta}^*) \cap \left(1, 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{\kappa+2s}\right)$ and S_u contains an affine plane \mathcal{L} of codimension κ . Then the conclusions of (i) hold.

If $\kappa = N$, (ii) is just (i). Note that if $0 < s \leq \frac{1}{2}$ or if $\kappa \geq N - 2$, then $(p_{\beta}^{**}, p_{\beta}^{*}) \cap \left(p_{\beta}^{**}, 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{\kappa+2s}\right] = (p_{\beta}^{**}, p_{\beta}^{*})$, while, if $\frac{1}{2} < s < 1$ and $\kappa = N - 1$, then $(p_{\beta}^{**}, p_{\beta}^{*}) \cap \left(p_{\beta}^{**}, 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{\kappa+2s}\right] = \left(p_{\beta}^{**}, 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{N-1+2s}\right]$.

Conversely, given a closed set of $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ and a nonnegative Radon measure on ν on $\mathcal{R} = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \mathcal{S}$, we study the existence of solution of (1.26) with a given initial trace $Tr_c(u) = Tr(u) = (\mathcal{S}, \nu)$, that is a solution of the following problem

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty$$

$$Tr(u) = (\mathcal{S}, \nu). \tag{1.32}$$

This means that u is a classical solution of the equation in Q_{∞} and that (1.6) and (1.22) hold. By Theorem G any closed set cannot be the singular part of the initial trace of a positive solution of (1.26) if p is too small (diffusion effect) or if p is too large. In the same sense any positive bounded Radon measure ν cannot be the regular part of the initial trace of a positive solution of (1.26) since condition (1.15) is equivalent to $p < p_{\beta}^*$. However this condition is restrictive and there exist several sufficient conditions linking ν , s, β and p. Hence we say that a nonnegative bounded measure ν is an *admissible measure* if the initial value problem

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty$$

$$u(0, .) = \nu,$$
(1.33)

admits a solution u_{ν} , always unique, and it is a *good measure* if it is stable in the sense that if ν is replaced by $\nu * \rho_n$ for some sequence of mollifiers, then $u_{\nu*\rho_n}$ and $t^{\beta}u^p_{\nu*\rho_n}$ converges to u_{ν} and $t^{\beta}u^p_{\nu}$ respectively in $L^1(Q_T)$. We denote by H_s is the kernel in $\mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$ associated to $(-\Delta)^s$. It is expressed by

$$H_s(t,x) = \frac{1}{t^{\frac{N}{2s}}} \tilde{H}_s\left(\frac{x}{t^{\frac{1}{2s}}}\right) \quad \text{where} \quad \tilde{H}_s(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{ix.\xi - |\xi|^{2s}} d\xi. \tag{1.34}$$

It is proved in [24], [15] that H_s satisfies the following two-side estimate,

$$\frac{c_3^{-1}t}{t^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |x|^{N+2s}} \le H_s(t,x) \le \frac{c_3t}{t^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |x|^{N+2s}} \quad \forall (t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(1.35)

The associated potential $\mathbb{H}_s[\nu]$ of a bounded Radon measure ν in \mathbb{R}^N is defined by

$$\mathbb{H}_s[\nu](t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_s(t,x-y) d\nu(y).$$

We first prove that a nonnegative bounded measure with Lebesgue decomposition $\nu = \nu_0 + \nu_s$, where $\nu_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and ν_s is singular with respect to the *N*-dim Lebesgue measure is a good measures if $t^{\beta}(\mathbb{H}_s[\nu])^p \in L^1(Q_1)$. The expression of admissibility for a Radon measure needs the introduction of Bessel capacities which are presented in Section 4.1. Our main existence result of solutions for (1.33) is the following.

Theorem H Let $N \ge 1$, p > 1 and $-1 < \beta < p - 1$. Then a nonnegative bounded measure ν in \mathbb{R}^N is an admissible measure if and only if ν vanishes on Borel subsets of \mathbb{R}^N with zero $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{2s(1+\beta)},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$ -Bessel capacity.

Concerning problem (1.32) we have the following general result.

Theorem I Assume that $N \ge 1$ and $p > 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$. If S is a closed subset of \mathbb{R}^N such that $\mathcal{S} = \overline{\operatorname{int} \mathcal{S}}$ and ν is a nonnegative Radon measure on $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{S}^c$ such that for any compact set $K \subset \mathcal{R}, \chi_{K} \nu$ is an admissible measure. Then problem (1.32) admits a solution.

It is interesting to compare this result with [37, Th. 4.11] dealing with the case s = 1. It is proved there that for any closed set satisfying a non-thinness condition (expressed later on in terms of Bessel capacity [32]) but always fulfilled when 1 and any nonnegativeadmissible Radon measure, problem (1.32) admits a solution. There the condition $p > 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$ has no counterpart when s = 1. Theorem L shows that this condition is fundamental in order to have existence without condition at infinity, even in the case where $S = \emptyset$ and ν is a mere $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ function. In some particular cases, the existence of a solution to (1.32) with no extra condition on \mathcal{S} or ν can be proved as the next results show it.

Theorem J Assume that $\beta > -1$, p > 1 and one of the following assumptions is fulfilled:

(i) either N = 1 and $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s} ,$ (ii) or <math>N = 2, $\frac{1}{2} < s < 1$ and $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s} .$

Then for any closed set $\mathcal{S} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ and any nonnegative measure ν in $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{S}^c$, there exists a nonnegative solution u to (1.32).

As a consequence of the previous results we obtain existence with initial data measure in \mathbb{R}^N of solutions without condition at infinity in the spirit of Brezis classical result [17].

Corollary K Let $N \ge 1$, $\beta > -1$ and p > 1.

(a) If $p > 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$ and $-1 < \beta < p-1$, then there exists a positive solution $u \in L^1_{loc}(0,\infty;\mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$ to problem (1.33) for any nonnegative Radon measure ν in \mathbb{R}^N if and only if for any $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\chi_{B_n} \nu$ is an admissible measure.

(b) If one of the assumptions (i) or (ii) of Theorem J is fulfilled, then for any nonnegative Radon measure ν in \mathbb{R}^N there exists a positive solution to problem (1.33).

Conditions (i) or (ii) of Theorem J are essentially necessary for unconditional existence, since we have the following result.

Theorem L Assume that $\beta > -1$, p > 1 and $1 . If <math>\phi \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is a nonnegative function which satisfies

$$\lim_{|x|\to\infty}\frac{\phi(x)}{|x|^{\frac{2s(\beta+1)}{\beta+2-p}}} = +\infty,$$
(1.36)

then the sequence of solutions $\{u_n\}$ of (1.33) with initial data $\nu = \nu_n = \inf\{\phi, \phi_n\}$, where $\phi_n = \inf \{ \phi(z) : |z| \ge n \}$ is increasing and converges to U(t).

This implies that there exists no solution of (1.33) with initial data ϕ . Notice that $\beta + 2 - p$ is positive for $p < 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$. For the mere heat equation a theory of maximal growth for admissibility growth of initial data has been developed in [51] and for the fractional heat equation in [15]. In both cases the representation formulas play an important role. For equations with potential a phenomenon of instantaneous blow-up is proved [6] for solution of

$$\partial_t u - \Delta u - V(x)u = 0$$
 in Q_{∞} , (1.37)

when $V \sim c|x|^{-2}$, for any nonnegative initial data. This phenomenon of instantaneous blow-up has been recently highlighted in [48] for the semilinear equation

$$\partial_t u - \Delta u + u \left(\ln(u+1) \right)^{\alpha} = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_{\infty}, \tag{1.38}$$

when $1 < \alpha < 2$. It is shown there that the limit of a sequence of solutions with fast growing initial data is the maximal solution of $u' + u (\ln(u+1))^{\alpha} = 0$ on $(0, \infty)$.

Acknowledgements

H. Chen is supported by NNSF of China, No: 11726614, 11661045, by the Jiangxi Provincial Natural Science Foundation, No: 20161ACB20007. The authors are grateful to the referee for the careful reading of the manuscript which enabled several improvements in the presentation of this work.

2 Initial trace with general nonlinearity

2.1 Existence of an initial trace

Proof of Theorem A. For any bounded domain $\omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$, we denote by $C_0^2(\overline{\omega})$ the space of functions $\xi : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ which are C^2 and have compact support in $\overline{\omega}$. We always assume that $N \geq 1$ and 0 < s < 1. Let ϕ_{ω} be the first eigenfunction of $(-\Delta)^s$ in $H_0^s(\omega)$, with corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda_{\omega} > 0$, i.e. the solution of

$$(-\Delta)^{s} \phi_{\omega} = \lambda_{\omega} \phi_{\omega} \quad \text{in } \omega$$

$$\phi_{\omega} = 0 \quad \text{in } \omega^{c}. \tag{2.1}$$

Existence and basic properties of the eigenfunctions can be found in [5], [16]. We normalize ϕ_{ω} by $\sup \phi_{\omega} = 1$. We say that ω is of class **E. S. C.** if it satisfies the *exterior sphere condition*. It is known by [45, Prop 1.1] that $\phi_{\omega}(x) \leq c(\operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\omega))^s$ in ω , and there exists q > 2 such that $\phi_{\omega}^q \in C_0^2(\overline{\omega})$. We denote by $K_{\rho}(z)$ the open cube with sides parallel to the axis of center $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and length sides $\rho > 0$, and $K_1 := K_1(0)$. Then

$$\phi_{K_{\rho}(z)}(x) = \phi_{K_1}\left(\frac{x-z}{\rho}\right) \text{ and } \lambda_{K_{\rho}(z)} = \frac{\lambda_{K_1}}{\rho^{2s}}$$

The next lemma is an improvement of [26, Lemma 2.3].

Lemma 2.1 Let $q \in \mathbb{N} \cap [2, \infty)$ and $\zeta \in C_0^2(\overline{\omega}), \, \zeta \ge 0$, then

$$(-\Delta)^{s}\zeta^{q}(x) = q\zeta^{q-1}(x)(-\Delta)^{s}\zeta(x) - \frac{a_{N,s}}{q(q-1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\zeta^{q}(y) - \zeta^{q}(x) - q(\zeta(y) - \zeta(x))\zeta^{q-1}(y)}{|x - y|^{N+2s}} dy$$

$$\geq q\zeta^{q-1}(x)(-\Delta)^{s}\zeta(x) - \frac{a_{N,s}}{q}\zeta^{q-2}(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{(\zeta(y) - \zeta(x))^{2}}{|x - y|^{N+2s}} dy.$$
(2.2)

Proof. From [26, Lemma 2.3], we know that

$$(-\Delta)^{s}\zeta^{q}(x) = q\zeta^{q-1}(x)(-\Delta)^{s}\zeta(x) - q(q-1)a_{N,s}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left(\int_{\zeta(x)}^{\zeta(y)} (\zeta(y) - t)t^{q-2}dt\right) \frac{dy}{|x - y|^{N+2s}}.$$

By integration by parts, we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\zeta(x)}^{\zeta(y)} &(\zeta(y) - t)t^{q-2}dt = \frac{1}{q(q-1)} \left(\zeta^q(y) - \zeta^q(x) - q(\zeta(y) - \zeta(x))\zeta^{q-1}(x) \right) \\ &= \frac{\zeta(y) - \zeta(x)}{q(q-1)} \left[\zeta^{q-1}(y) + \zeta^{q-2}(y)\zeta(x) + \ldots + \zeta(y)\zeta^{q-2}(x) - (q-1)\zeta^{q-1}(x) \right]. \end{split}$$

Since for any $a, b \ge 0$

$$\begin{split} b^{q-1} + ab^{q-2} + \dots a^{q-2}b - (q-1)a^{q-1} \\ &= b^{q-1} - a^{q-1} + a(b^{q-2} - a^{q-2}) + a^2(b^{q-3} - a^{q-3}) + \dots + a^{q-2}(b-a) \\ &= (b-a)\left[\left(b^{q-2} + ab^{q-3} + \dots + a^{q-2} \right) + a \left(b^{q-3} + ab^{q-4} + \dots + a^{q-3} \right) + \dots + a^{q-2} \right] \\ &\geq (q-1)(b-a)a^{q-2}, \end{split}$$

we obtain (2.2).

Remark. By the mean value theorem, we see that there exists $m_{\zeta} \in \{z = \zeta(w) : w \in \mathbb{R}^N\}$ such that

$$L(\zeta^{q}) := \frac{a_{N,s}}{q(q-1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\zeta^{q}(y) - \zeta^{q}(x) - q(\zeta(y) - \zeta(x))\zeta^{q-1}(x)}{|x-y|^{N+2s}} dy$$

$$= \frac{a_{N,s}}{2} m_{\zeta}^{q-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{(\zeta(y) - \zeta(x))^{2}}{|x-y|^{N+2s}} dy.$$
 (2.3)

Proposition 2.2 Assume that f satisfies (1.2) and u is a nonnegative solution of (1.1) such that $u(t, \cdot) \in \mathcal{L}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ for all $t \in (0, T)$. If $f(\cdot, \cdot, u) \in L^{1}(Q_{\omega}^{T})$ for some bounded domain $\omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{N}$ of class **E. S. C.** and T > 0. Then there exists $\ell_{\omega} \geq 0$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{\omega} u(t, x) \phi_{\omega}^{q}(x) dx = \ell_{\omega}.$$
(2.4)

Furthermore, we have that

$$\ell_{\omega} + \frac{a_{N,s}}{q} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u(s,x) \phi_{\omega}^{q-2}(x) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{(\phi_{\omega}(y) - \phi_{\omega}(x))^{2}}{|x - y|^{N+2s}} dy \right) dx$$

$$\leq e^{q\lambda_{\omega}T} X(T) + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\omega} f(s,x,u) \phi_{\omega}^{q}(x) e^{q\lambda_{\omega}s} dx dt.$$
(2.5)

Proof. Since $\phi^q_{\omega} \in C^2_0(\overline{\omega})$, there holds

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\omega}u(t,x)\phi_{\omega}^{q}(x)dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}u(t,x)(-\Delta)^{s}\phi_{\omega}^{q}(x)dx + \int_{\omega}f(t,x,u)\phi_{\omega}^{q}(x)dx = 0.$$
 (2.6)

 Set

$$X(t) = \int_{\omega} u(t, x) \phi_{\omega}^{q}(x) dx,$$

then

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(e^{q\lambda_{\omega}t}X(t) - \int_{t}^{T}\int_{\omega}f(s,x,u)\phi_{\omega}^{q}(x)e^{q\lambda_{\omega}s}dxds\right) = e^{q\lambda_{\omega}t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}L(\phi_{\omega}^{q})(x)dx \ge 0.$$
(2.7)

This implies that $\lim_{t\to 0} X(t) = \ell_{\omega}$ exists and

$$\ell_{\omega} + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} L(\phi_{\omega}^{q})(x) e^{q\lambda_{\omega}s} u(s,x) dx ds + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\omega} f(s,x,u) \phi_{\omega}^{q}(x) e^{q\lambda_{\omega}s} dx ds = e^{q\lambda_{\omega}T} X(T),$$

which implies (2.5) by Lemma 2.1.

As an immediate consequence we have,

Corollary 2.3 Under the assumptions of Theorem A, $u \in L^1(Q_G^T)$ for any compact set $G \subset \mathcal{R}_u$.

The proof of Theorem A is completed by the following statement:

Proposition 2.4 There exists a nonnegative Radon measure μ_u on \mathcal{R}_u such that for any $\zeta \in C_0^2(\mathcal{R}_u)$, there holds

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} u(t, x) \zeta(x) dx = \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} \zeta d\mu_u.$$
(2.8)

Proof. Let $\zeta \in C_0^2(\mathcal{R}_u)$ with support K and let G be an open subset containing K such that ∂G is smooth and \overline{G} is a compact subset of \mathcal{R}_u and assume $0 \leq \zeta \leq 1$. We put

$$Y(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx = \int_G u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx,$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} f(t, x, u) \zeta(x) dx = \int_G f(t, x, u) \zeta(x) dx,$$

then

$$Y'(t) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u(t,x)(-\Delta)^s \zeta(x) dx + \int_G f(t,x,u)\zeta(x) dx = 0.$$

Since $\zeta \geq 0$, we have that

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{a_{N,s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} & u(t,x)(-\Delta)^{s} \zeta(x) dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u(t,x) \int_{G} \frac{\zeta(x) - \zeta(y)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dy dx + \int_{G} u(t,x) \zeta(x) \int_{G^{c}} \frac{dy}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dx \\ &= \int_{G} u(t,x) \int_{G} \frac{\zeta(x) - \zeta(y)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dy dx - \int_{G^{c}} u(t,x) \int_{G} \frac{\zeta(y)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dy dx \\ &+ \int_{G} u(t,x) \zeta(x) \int_{G^{c}} \frac{dy}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dx \\ &\leq \int_{G} u(t,x) \int_{G} \frac{\zeta(x) - \zeta(y)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dy dx + \int_{G} u(t,x) \zeta(x) \int_{G^{c}} \frac{dy}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dx \end{split}$$
(2.9)

If we define the regional fractional Laplacian of order s relative to G by

$$(-\Delta)^s_G\zeta(x) := a_{N,s} \int_G \frac{\zeta(x) - \zeta(y)}{|x - y|^{N+2s}} dy,$$

then the right-hand side of (2.9) is bounded from above by

$$\Lambda(t) = \left(\| (-\Delta)_G^s \zeta \|_{L^{\infty}} + \max_{x \in K} \int_{G^c} \frac{dy}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} \right) \int_G u(t, x) dx,$$

since ζ is C^2 with support in $K \subset G \subset \overline{G} \Subset \mathcal{R}_u$. By Corollary 2.3, $\Lambda \in L^1(0,T)$. Because

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(Y(t) - \int_{t}^{T} \left(\Lambda(s) + \int_{G} f(t, x, u)\zeta(x)dx\right)ds\right) \ge 0,$$
(2.10)

and

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left(\Lambda(s) + \int_{G} f(t, x, u) \zeta(x) dx \right) ds < \infty$$
(2.11)

Combining (2.10) and (2.11) we infer that the following limit exists

$$\lim_{t \to 0} Y(t) = \lim_{t \to 0} \int_G u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx := \tilde{\mu}_u(\zeta).$$
(2.12)

By replacing ζ by $\|\zeta\|_{L^{\infty}}\zeta$ we can drop the condition $\zeta \leq 1$. with support in K, then

$$0 \le \lim_{t \to 0} \int_G u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx = \tilde{\mu}_u(\zeta) \le \ell_G \|\zeta\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$
(2.13)

Next we assume that $\zeta \in C_0(\mathcal{R}_u)$ is nonnegative, with support $K \subset G \subset \overline{G} \Subset \mathcal{R}_u$, then there exists an increasing sequences $\{\zeta_n\} \subset C_0^2(\mathcal{R}_u)$ of nonnegative functions smaller than ζ which converges to ζ uniformly (take for example $\zeta_n = (\zeta - n^{-1})_+ * \rho_n$ for some sequence of mollifiers $\{\rho_n\}$ with $\operatorname{supp}(\rho_n) \subset B_{n^{-2}}$). The sequence $\{\tilde{\mu}_u(\zeta_n)\}$ is increasing and bounded from above by $M\ell_G \operatorname{sup}_G \zeta$. Hence it is convergent and its limit, still denoted by $\tilde{\mu}_u(\zeta)$ is independent of the

sequence $\{\zeta_n\}$. We can also consider a uniform approximation of ζ from above in considering $\zeta'_n = (\sigma_n + \zeta) * \rho_n$, where $\sigma_n = n^{-1}\chi_{K_n}$ and $K_n = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : \text{dist}(x, K) \leq n^{-1}\}$. Actually,

$$\tilde{\mu}_{u}(\zeta) = \sup\{\tilde{\mu}_{u}(\eta) : \eta \in C_{0}^{2}(\mathcal{R}_{u}), 0 \le \eta \le \zeta\} = \inf\{\tilde{\mu}_{u}(\eta') : \eta' \in C_{0}^{2}(\mathcal{R}_{u}), \zeta \le \eta'\}.$$
(2.14)

This implies that for all η and η' belonging to $C_0^2(\mathcal{R}_u)$ such that $\eta \leq \zeta \leq \eta'$, we have that

$$\tilde{\mu}_u(\eta) \le \liminf_{t \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx \le \limsup_{t \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx \le \tilde{\mu}_u(\eta').$$
(2.15)

Combined with (2.14) we infer the existence of the limit and

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{\mathcal{R}_u} u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx = \tilde{\mu}_u(\zeta).$$
(2.16)

Finally, if $\zeta \in C_0(\mathcal{R}_u)$ is a signed function we write $\zeta = \zeta_+ - \zeta_-$ and $\mu_u(\zeta) = \tilde{\mu}_u(\zeta_+) - \tilde{\mu}_u(\zeta_-)$. Hence μ_u is a positive Radon measure on \mathcal{R}_u , and (2.8) follows from (2.16) with ζ replaced by ζ_+ and ζ_- .

Lemma 2.5 Assume that $G \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is a bounded smooth domain and $\eta \in C_0^2(G)$. Then there exists $c_5 > 0$ such that

$$|(-\Delta)^{s}\eta(x)| \le \frac{c_{5}\|\eta\|_{C^{2}}}{1+|x|^{N+2s}} \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{N}.$$
(2.17)

Moreover, assume that $\eta \ge 0$ in G, then $(-\Delta)^s \eta \le 0$ in G^c and for any $\delta > 0$ there exists $c_{\delta} > 1$ independent of η such that

$$\frac{\|\eta\|_{L^1}}{c_\delta(1+|x|^{N+2s})} \le -(-\Delta)^s \eta(x) \le \frac{c_\delta \|\eta\|_{L^1}}{1+|x|^{N+2s}},\tag{2.18}$$

for $x \in \{z \in \mathbb{R}^N : \operatorname{dist}(z, G) \ge \delta\}.$

Proof. Let $x \in G^c$ and $y \in \mathbb{R}^N$, then $\eta(x) - \eta(y) \leq 0$ and hence $(-\Delta)^s \eta \leq 0$ in G^c . For $y \in G$ and $x \in G^c$ satisfying dist $(x, G) > \delta$, there exists $c_6 > 1$ such that

$$c_6^{-1}(1+|x|^{N+2s}) \le |x-y|^{N+2s} \le c_6(1+|x|^{N+2s}).$$

Together with

$$(-\Delta)^s \eta(x) = -a_{N,s} \int_G \frac{\eta(y)}{|y-x|^{N+2s}} dy \qquad \forall x \in G^c,$$

one obtains the claim.

Remark. Estimate (2.17) has essentially been already obtained in [11, Lemma 2.1] but we kept it for the sake of completeness. (2.17). Estimate (2.20) is new and will be useful in the sequel.

Proof of Theorem B. Let $\rho > \rho' > 0$ and $\zeta \in C_0^2(B_\rho(z))$ such that $0 \le \zeta \le 1$ and $\zeta = 1$ on $B_{\rho'}(z)$). Then there holds

$$\int_{B_{\rho}(z)} u(t,x)\zeta(x)dx = \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} u(T,x)\zeta(x)dx + \int_{t}^{T} \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} f(s,x,u)\zeta(x)dxds + \int_{t}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u(s,x)(-\Delta)^{s}\zeta(x)dxds$$

The function ζ satisfies

$$|(-\Delta)^{s}\zeta(x)| \le \frac{c_{5}\|\zeta\|_{C^{2}}}{1+|x|^{N+2s}}, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{N}.$$

Since $(t,x) \mapsto (1+|x|^{N+2s})^{-1}u((t,x) \in L^1(Q_T))$, we infer that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} u(t, x)\zeta(x)dx = +\infty, \qquad (2.19)$$

which implies the claim.

2.2 Pointwise estimates

Proof of Theorem C. In what follows we characterize the singular set of the initial trace when the absorption reaction is subcritical, that is it satisfies (1.14), (1.15) and (1.16) hold. Under these two last assumptions for any bounded Radon measure in \mathbb{R}^N , it is proved in [28, Th 1.1] that there exists a unique weak solution $u := u_{\mu}$ to

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta g(u) = 0 \quad \text{in } Q_\infty$$

$$u(0, \cdot) = \mu \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N.$$
 (2.20)

We recall by a weak solution, we mean a function $u \in L^1(Q_T)$ such that $t^\beta g(u) \in L^1(Q_T)$ for all T > 0 satisfying

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left[\left(-\partial_t \xi + (-\Delta)^s \xi \right) u + t^\beta g(u) \xi \right] dx dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi(0, x) d\mu(x) \qquad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{Y}_{s,T},$$
(2.21)

where $\mathbb{Y}_{s,T}$ is the space of functions ξ defined in Q_{∞} satisfying

- (i) $\|\xi\|_{L^1(Q_T)} + \|\xi\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_T)} + \|\partial_t \xi\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_T)} + \|(-\Delta)^s \xi\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_T)} < +\infty,$
- (*ii*) $\xi(T) = 0$ and for 0 < t < T, there exist M > 0 and $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that for $0 < \epsilon \le \epsilon_0$, $\|(-\Delta)^s_{\epsilon}\xi(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)} \le M.$

Furthermore, if μ_j converges to μ weakly in the sense of measures, then u_{μ_j} converges to u_{μ_j} locally uniformly in Q_{∞} . Up to translation we can assume that z = 0. Since (1.22) holds, for any k > 0 there exist two sequences $\{t_n\}$ and $\{\rho_n\}$ converging to 0 such that

$$\int_{B_{\rho_n}} u(t_n, x) dx = k.$$
(2.22)

Case 1: $\beta \leq 0$. For R > 0, let v_n^R be the solution of

$$\partial_t v + (-\Delta)^s v + t^\beta g(v) = 0 \qquad \text{in } (t_n, \infty) \times B_R$$
$$v(t, x) = 0 \qquad \text{in } (t_n, \infty) \times B_R^c$$
$$v(t_n, .) = u(t_n, x) \chi_{B_{\rho_n}} \qquad \text{in } B_R,$$
(2.23)

where B_R denote the ball in \mathbb{R}^N centered at origin with the radius R. By the comparison principle, $u \ge v_n^R$ in $[t_n, \infty) \times B_R$. We set $v_n^R(t, x) = v_n^R(\tau + t_n, x) = \tilde{v}_n^R(\tau, x)$. Since $\beta \le 0$, there holds

$$\partial_t \tilde{v}_n^R + (-\Delta)^s \tilde{v}_n^R + \tau^\beta g(\tilde{v}_n^R) \ge 0 \quad \text{in } (0,\infty) \times B_R.$$

Hence $\tilde{v}_n^R \ge u_n^R$ where u_n^R is the solution of

$$\partial_t v + (-\Delta)^s v + t^\beta g(v) = 0 \qquad \text{in } (0, \infty) \times B_R$$
$$v(t, x) = 0 \qquad \text{in } (0, \infty) \times B_R^c$$
$$v(0, .) = u(t_n, x)\chi_{B_{\rho_n}} \qquad \text{in } B_R.$$
(2.24)

Letting $R \to \infty$ we infer that u_n^R increases and converges to the solution u_n^∞ of

$$\partial_t v + (-\Delta)^s v + t^\beta g(v) = 0 \qquad \text{in } (0,\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$$
$$v(0,.) = u(t_n, x) \chi_{B_{\rho_n}} \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \qquad (2.25)$$

and there holds $u(t_n + \tau, x) \ge u_n^{\infty}(\tau, x)$ in $(0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$. Letting $n \to \infty$ and using the above mentioned stability result, we obtain that u_n^{∞} converges to $u_{k\delta_0}$ and $u \ge u_{k\delta_0}$. Since it holds true for any k, the claim follows.

Case 2: $\beta > 0$. Clearly $u \ge v_n^{\infty}$ where v_n^{∞} satisfies

$$\partial_t v + (-\Delta)^s v + t^\beta g(v) = 0 \qquad \text{in } (t_n, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$$
$$v(t_n, .) = u(t_n, x) \chi_{B_{\rho_n}} \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \qquad (2.26)$$

Then $v_n^{\infty}(t,x) \leq \mathbb{H}_s[u(t_n,x)\chi_{B_{\rho_n}}](t-t_n,x)$. Since g satisfies (1.17) it follows from [28, Proof of Th 1.1] that the set of function $\left\{g\left(\mathbb{H}_s[u(t_n,.)\chi_{B_{\rho_n}}](.-t_n,.)\right)\right\}$ is uniformly integrable in $(t_n,\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$ and it is the same with $\{g(v_n^{\infty})\}$. Therefore, for any T > 0, $\{t^{\beta}g(v_n^{\infty})\}$ is uniformly integrable in $(t_n,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N$. Hence $\{v_n^{\infty}\}$ converges locally in $(0,\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$ to $u_{k\delta_0}$ and $u \geq u_{k\delta_0}$ as above.

Remark. We will see in Theorem F that if $g(u) = u^p$ the concentration result holds under the mere condition (1.15) whatever is the sign of β . The difficulty in the case $\beta > 0$ comes from the fact that the ball B_{ρ_n} may shrink very quickly with t_n and that a pointwise isolated singularity at (τ, z) with $\tau > 0$ can be removable for equation (2.20). In the power case we can control the rate of shrinking thanks to a Harnack-type inequality.

Proof of Theorem D. (i) *Proof of (1.22).* Let $\gamma \in C^2(\mathbb{R})$ be a convex nondecreasing function vanishing on $(-\infty, 0]$ such that $\gamma(r) \leq r_+$. For $\epsilon > 0$, let U_{ϵ} be the solution of

$$\partial_t U + t^\beta g(U) = 0 \quad \text{in } (\epsilon, +\infty) U(\epsilon) = +\infty.$$
(2.27)

Indeed,

$$U_{\epsilon}(t) = \mathcal{G}^{-1}(\frac{t^{\beta+1} - \epsilon^{\beta+1}}{\beta+1}),$$

where \mathcal{G}^{-1} is the inverse function of \mathcal{G} , see (1.20). Then there holds

$$(-\Delta)^{s} \gamma(u(t,.) - U_{\epsilon}(t))(x) = \gamma'((u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))(-\Delta)^{s}u(x) - a_{N,s}\frac{\gamma''(u(t,z_{x}) - U_{\epsilon}(t))}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{(u(t,y) - u(t,x))^{2}}{|x-y|^{N+2s}} dy.$$

Notice that the integral is convergent if $t > \epsilon$, since $\gamma(u(t, \cdot) - U(t - \epsilon)) = \gamma(u(t, \cdot) - U_{\epsilon}(t))$, where $0 \le u(t, \cdot) \le U_{\epsilon}(t)$ and u satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{u(\cdot, x) dx}{1 + |x|^{N+2s}} < +\infty \qquad \text{a.e. in} \quad (0, T).$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t \gamma(u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t)) + (-\Delta)^s \gamma(u(t,.) - U_{\epsilon}(t))(x) \\ &\leq \gamma'(u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t)) \cdot (\partial_t u(t,x) - \partial_t U_{\epsilon}(t) + (-\Delta)^s u(x)) \\ &\leq \gamma'(u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t)) \cdot \left(t^{\beta} g(U_{\epsilon}(t)) - f(t,x,u(t,x))\right) \\ &\leq 0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\gamma(u(\cdot, \cdot) - U_{\epsilon}(\cdot))$ is a subsolution. Let $\eta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ be a nonnegative function. Using Lemma 2.5 we have that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \gamma(u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))(-\Delta)^s \eta dx \right| \le c_5 \|\eta\|_{C^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{u(t,x)dx}{1 + |x|^{N+2s}}.$$

Since $u \in L^1_{loc}(0,T; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$, for almost all s, t such that $\epsilon < s < t$, there holds

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \gamma(u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))\eta(x)dx &+ \int_s^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \gamma(u(\tau,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))(-\Delta)^s \eta(x)dxd\tau \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \gamma(u(s,x) - U_{\epsilon}(s))\eta(x)dx. \end{split}$$

Since $\gamma(u(s,x) - U_{\epsilon}(s))\eta(x) \leq u(s,x)\eta(x)$ and $u(s,.)\eta \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$, we get from the dominated convergence theorem that

$$\lim_{s \downarrow \epsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \gamma(u(s, x) - U_{\epsilon}(s)) \eta(x) dx = 0.$$

Hence, letting $s \to \epsilon$ and $\gamma(r) \uparrow r_+$, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))_{+} \eta(x) dx \leq \left| \int_{\epsilon}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (u(\tau,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))_{+} (-\Delta)^{s} \eta(x) dx d\tau \right| \\
\leq c_{5} \|\eta\|_{C^{2}} \int_{\epsilon}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{(u(\tau,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))_{+}}{1 + |x|^{N+2s}} dx d\tau.$$
(2.28)

Next, for $n \ge 1$, we replace η by $\eta_n(x) = \eta(n^{-1}x)$, where $0 \le \eta \le 1$, $\eta(x) = 1$ on B_1 and $\operatorname{supp}(\eta) \subset B_2$. We can also assume that η is radially decreasing and $\eta(0) = 1$. Since $\|\eta_n\|_{C^2} \le \|\eta\|_{C^2}$, we obtain from (2.28) and the monotone convergence theorem that the following holds for almost all $t \in (\epsilon, T)$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))_+ dx \le c_5 \|\eta\|_{C^2} \int_{\epsilon}^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{(u(\tau,x) - U_{\epsilon}(\tau))_+}{1 + |x|^{N+2s}} dx d\tau.$$
(2.29)

This inequality implies that $(u(t, .) - U_{\epsilon}(t))_{+} \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ for almost all $t \in (\epsilon, T)$. We set

$$\Psi_{\epsilon}(t) = \int_{\epsilon}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{(u(\tau, x) - U_{\epsilon}(\tau))_{+}}{1 + |x|^{N+2s}} dx d\tau.$$

Then

$$\Psi'_{\epsilon}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{(u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))_+}{1 + |x|^{N+2s}} dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (u(t,x) - U_{\epsilon}(t))_+ dx \le c_5 \|\eta\|_{C^2} \Psi_{\epsilon}(t).$$

Since $\Psi_{\epsilon}(\epsilon) = 0$ we obtain $\Psi_{\epsilon}(t) = 0$ on (0, T), hence $u(t, x) \leq U_{\epsilon}(t)$ a.e. on $(\epsilon, T) \times \mathbb{R}^{N}$. Letting $\epsilon \to 0$, we get the claim.

(ii) End of the proof. Because of Theorem B it is sufficient to prove that if (1.23) holds true, then $U \in L^1(0, 1)$. Indeed, we recall that

$$\mathcal{G}(s) = \int_{s}^{\infty} \frac{d\tau}{g(\tau)}.$$

Clearly, \mathcal{G} is an decreasing diffeomorphism from \mathbb{R}^*_+ onto $(0, \Phi(0))$ and $U(t) = \mathcal{G}^{-1}\left(\frac{t^{\beta+1}}{\beta+1}\right)$. Set U(t) = s, then $t = ((\beta+1)\mathcal{G}(s))^{\frac{1}{\beta+1}}$ and we get

$$\int_0^1 U(t)dt = \int_\infty^{U(1)} s\mathcal{G}'(s) \left((\beta+1)\mathcal{G}(s)\right)^{-\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}} ds$$
$$= (\beta+1)^{-\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}} \int_{U(1)}^\infty \frac{sds}{g(s) \left(\int_s^\infty \frac{d\tau}{g(\tau)}\right)^{\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}}} < +\infty,$$

which completes the proof.

The following weight function plays an important role in the description of the initial trace problem for positive solutions of the fractional heat equation

$$\Phi(x) = \frac{1}{\left(1 + \left(|x|^2 - 1\right)_+^4\right)^{\frac{N+2s}{8}}}, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(2.30)

It has the remarkable property that

$$-c_6 \Phi(x) \le (-\Delta)^s \Phi(x) \le c_6 \Phi(x), \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(2.31)

for some constant $c_6 > 0$ (see [15], [11]). Furthermore, for some $c_7 > 1$,

$$\frac{1}{c_7(1+|x|^{N+2s})} \le \Phi(x) \le \frac{c_7}{1+|x|^{N+2s}}, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(2.32)

Lemma 2.6 Let $f : \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a Caratheodory function which satisfies (1.2) and is nondecreasing with respect to the variable u. For given $u_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is nonnegative, problem

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + f(t, x, u) = 0 \qquad \text{in } Q_{\infty},$$

$$u(0, \cdot) = u_0 \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N$$
(2.33)

has a unique weak solution $u \in C(\mathbb{R}^+; L^1(\mathbb{R}^N))$ satisfying that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u(t,x)\Phi(x)dx + \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left(u(s,x)(-\Delta)^{s}\Phi(x) + f(s,x,u)\Phi(x) \right) dxds = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u_{0}(x)\Phi(x)dx.$$
(2.34)

Proof. Since u is a weak solution of (2.33) and the function Φ satisfies the assumptions (i)-(ii) in [28, Def. 1.1], we get (2.34).

Corollary 2.7 Assume that f satisfies the assumptions of Lemma 2.6 and that inequalities (1.14)-(1.15)-(1.16) hold. Then for any nonnegative measure μ in \mathbb{R}^N verifying

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \Phi(x) \, d\mu(x) < +\infty, \tag{2.35}$$

there exists a weak solution $u \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^+; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$ of (2.33) in the sense that

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left[-(\partial_{t}\xi + (-\Delta)^{s}\xi)u + \xi f(s, x, u) \right] dxds + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u(t, x)\xi(t, x)dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \xi(0, x)d\mu(x),$$
(2.36)

for any $\xi \in C_0^2(\overline{Q}_T)$ satisfying the assumptions (i)-(ii) in [28, Def. 1.1]. Furthermore,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u(t,x)\Phi(x)dx + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left[u(s,x)(-\Delta)^s \Phi(x) + f(s,x,u)\Phi(x) \right] dxds = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \Phi(x)d\mu(x).$$
(2.37)

Proof. By the assumptions on f and for any n > 0, it follows from [28, Th. 1.1] that

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + f(t, x, u) = 0 \qquad \text{in } Q_\infty$$

$$u(0, \cdot) = \mu_n := \chi_{B_n} u_0 \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$

(2.38)

has a unique solution $u_n \in L^1(Q_T)$ verifying $f(\cdot, \cdot, u_n) \in L^1(Q_T)$. If ρ_k is a sequence of mollifiers with compact supports and $\mu_{n,k} = (\chi_{B_n} u_0) * \rho_k$, the sequence $\{u_{n,k}\}$ of weak solutions of

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + f(t, x, u) = 0 \qquad \text{in } Q_{\infty}$$
$$u(0, \cdot) = \mu_{n,k} \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(2.39)

then $u_{n,k}$ satisfies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_{n,k}(t,x)\Phi(x)dx + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left[u_{n,k}(s,x)(-\Delta)^s \Phi(x) + f(s,x,u_{n,k})\Phi(x) \right] dxds$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \mu_{n,k}(x)\Phi(x)dx.$$
(2.40)

When $k \to \infty$, we know from the proof of [28, Th. 1.1] that, up to a subsequence, $\{u_{n,k}\}_k$ converges a.e. in Q_T to some function u_n , $\{f(\cdot, \cdot, u_{n,k})\}_k$ converges a.e. to $\{f(\cdot, \cdot, u_n)\}$ and that $\{u_{n,k}\}_k$ and $\{f(\cdot, \cdot, u_{n,k})\}_k$ are uniformly integrable in $L^1(Q_T)$. Furthermore $u_n \in C([0, T]; L^1(\mathbb{R}^N))$ and for any $t \in (0, T], \{u_{n,k}(t, \cdot)\}_k$ converges to $u_n(t, \cdot)$ in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$. This implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_n(t,x)\Phi(x)dx + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left[u_n(s,x)(-\Delta)^s \Phi(x) + f(s,x,u_n)\Phi(x) \right] dxds = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \Phi(x)d\mu_n(x).$$
(2.41)

Furthermore,

$$\int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left[-(\partial_{t}\xi + (-\Delta)^{s}\xi)u_{n} + \xi f(s, x, u_{n}) \right] dxds + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u_{n}(t, x)\xi(t, x)dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \xi(0, x)d\mu_{n}(x),$$
(2.42)

for all $\xi \in C_0^2(\overline{Q}_T)$ satisfying the assumptions (i)-(ii) in [28, Def. 1.1]. When $n \to \infty$, $u_n \uparrow u$ and $f(s, x, u_n) \uparrow f(s, x, u)$. Using the monotone convergent theorem we see that u satisfies (2.37), and that the sequences $\{u_n\}_n$ and $\{f(\cdot, \cdot, u_n)\}_n$ converges to u and $f(\cdot, \cdot, u)$ in $L^1(0, T; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$ respectively. Using estimate (2.17) we can let n to infinity in (2.42) and obtain (2.36).

As it is pointed out in [15], the weight function Φ plays a role similar to an eigenfunction of $(-\Delta)^s$. We prove a backward-forward uniqueness result for solutions of (1.1) inspired from [15, Lemma 4.2].

Theorem 2.8 Assume that $u \mapsto f(t, x, u)$ is locally Lipschitz continuous on \mathbb{R} , uniformly with respect to $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and locally uniformly with respect to $t \in \mathbb{R}^*_+$. If u_1 and u_2 belong to $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^*_+; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap L^\infty_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^*_+; L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^N))$ and are weak solutions of (1.1) in Q_T which coincide for $t = t_0 > 0$, then $u_1 = u_2$ in Q_T .

Proof. For any $0 < \epsilon < t_0 < T < \infty$, u_1 and u_2 are uniformly bounded in $[\epsilon, T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$. Hence the function D defined by

$$D(t,x) = \begin{cases} \frac{f(t,x,u_1(t,x)) - f(t,x,u_2(t,x))}{u_1(t,x) - u_2(t,x)} & \text{if } u_1(t,x) \neq u_2(t,x) \\ 0 & \text{if } u_1(t,x) = u_2(t,x) \end{cases}$$

is bounded in $[\epsilon, T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$ by some constant $M = M(\epsilon, T) > 0$. Set $w = u_1 - u_2$, it satisfies

$$\partial_t w + (-\Delta)^s w + Dw = 0$$
 in Q_T ,

and is uniformly bounded in $[\epsilon, T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$. Hence

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} w(t,x)(-\Delta)^s \Phi(x)dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} D(t,x)w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx = 0.$$

Using (2.31) we get

$$-(c_5+M)\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx \le \frac{d}{dt}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx \le (c_5+M)\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx.$$
(2.43)

This implies

$$-(c_5+M)\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx \le \frac{d}{dt}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx \le (c_5+M)\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx, \quad (2.44)$$

and

(i)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx \le e^{(c_5+M)(t-s)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} w(s,x)\Phi(x)dx,$$

(ii)
$$e^{(c_5+M)(s-t)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} w(s,x)\Phi(x)dx \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} w(t,x)\Phi(x)dx,$$

(2.45)

for all $\epsilon \leq s \leq t \leq T$. Taking $s = t_0$ in (i) and $t = t_0$ in (ii) yields $w \equiv 0$ in $[\epsilon, T] \times \mathbb{R}^N$.

Proof of Theorem E. By Theorem D we know that $u \leq U$. If there exists some $(t_0, x_0) \in Q_T$ such that $u((t_0, x_0)) = U(t_0)$, then either $u((t_0, x)) = U(t_0)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$, or

$$(-\Delta)^s (u-U)(t_0, x_0) < 0 \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Since $f(t, x, u) - t^{\beta}g(U) \ge 0$ and $\partial_t(u - U)(t_0, x_0) = 0$ we infer that $u((t_0, .)) \equiv U(t_0)$. Since g is nondecreasing this situation is impossible, hence $u((t_0, .)) = U(t_0)$. Since g is locally Lipschitz continuous, this implies u = U in Q_T by Theorem 2.8.

A straightforward consequence of Theorems B, C and D is the next statement.

Corollary 2.9 Let $f(t, x, r) = t^{\beta}g(r)$, where $\beta > -1$ and $g : \mathbb{R}_{+} \to \mathbb{R}_{+}$ is continuous and nondecreasing and satisfies (1.15), (1.19) and (1.23). If u is a nonnegative of (1.1) in Q_{T} belonging to $L^{1}_{loc}(0, T; \mathcal{L}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$ such that $\mathcal{S}_{u} \neq \emptyset$, there holds

$$u(t,x) \ge u_{\infty,z}(t,x) = u_{\infty,0}(x-z,t) \qquad \forall (t,x) \in Q_T.$$
 (2.46)

3 The case $f(t, x, u) = t^{\beta} u^{p}$

We denote by $(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}}$ the fractional Laplacian in \mathbb{R}^{κ} and $(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}^N} = (-\Delta)^s$. The following standard lemma will be useful in the sequel.

Lemma 3.1 Let $1 \leq \kappa \leq N-1$ be an integer. If $u \in C^2(\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}) \cap \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^{\kappa})$ and $\tilde{u}(x_1, x') = u(x_1)$ for $(x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}^{\kappa} \times \mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}$, then

$$(-\Delta)^{s} \tilde{u}(x_{1}, x') = (-\Delta)^{s}_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}} u(x_{1}).$$
 (3.47)

Proof. This more or less well known lemma is based upon the explicit value of the constant $a_{N,s}$ in the definition of $(-\Delta)^s$. For the sake of completeness we give here the proof.

$$\begin{aligned} (-\Delta)^{s} \tilde{u}(x_{1}, x') &= a_{N,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}} \frac{u(x_{1}) - u(y_{1})}{\left((x_{1} - y_{1})^{2} + |x' - y'|^{2}\right)^{\frac{N}{2} + s}} dy' dy_{1} \\ &= a_{N,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}} \frac{dy'}{\left((x_{1} - y_{1})^{2} + |y'|^{2}\right)^{\frac{N}{2} + s}} \right) \left(u(x_{1}) - u(y_{1})\right) dy_{1} \\ &= a_{N,s} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}} \frac{dz'}{\left(1 + |z'|^{2}\right)^{\frac{N}{2} + s}} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}} \frac{u(x_{1}) - u(y_{1})}{|x_{1} - y_{1}|^{\kappa + 2s}} dy_{1} \\ &= \frac{a_{N,s}}{a_{\kappa,s}} \left(\left| S^{N-1-\kappa} \right| \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{r^{N-\kappa-1} dr}{\left(1 + r^{2}\right)^{\frac{N}{2} + s}} \right) (-\Delta)^{s}_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}} u(x_{1}). \end{aligned}$$

Since

$$\left|S^{N-1-\kappa}\right| = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{N-1-\kappa}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{N-1-\kappa}{2})},$$

and (see e.g. [46, p. 103])

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{r^{N-\kappa-1}dr}{(1+r^2)^{\frac{N}{2}+s}} = \frac{1}{2}B\left(\frac{N-\kappa}{2},\frac{\kappa}{2}+s\right) = \frac{1}{2}\frac{\Gamma(\frac{\kappa}{2}+s)\Gamma(\frac{N-\kappa}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{N}{2}+s)},$$

by Euler's formula, where B denotes beta function, we deduce that

$$\frac{a_{\kappa,s}}{a_{N,s}} = \left| S^{N-1-\kappa} \right| \int_0^\infty \frac{r^{N-\kappa-1} dr}{(1+r^2)^{\frac{N}{2}+s}},$$

which yields (3.47).

The next statement is a straightforward consequence.

Corollary 3.2 Assume that
$$u(x) = u(x_1, \dots x_N) = \sum_{j=1}^N u_j(x_j)$$
, then
 $(-\Delta)^s \tilde{u}(x) = \sum_{j=1}^N \left((-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}} u_j \right)(x_j).$
(3.48)

3.1 Proof of Theorem F

By Theorem E there holds $u(t,x) \leq ct^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}$ for some $c_* = c_*(\beta,p) > 0$, hence u satisfies

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + \frac{c(t,x)}{t} u = 0,$$
(3.49)

where $0 \le c(t, x) = t^{\beta} u^{p-1}(t, x) \le c_*^{p-1} := C_*$. Let d_s be the fractional parabolic pseudo-distance (i.e. the triangle inequality holds up to a multiplicative constant if $s < \frac{1}{2}$) in $\mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$,

$$d_s((t,x),(s,y)) = \sqrt{|x-y|^2 + |t-s|^{\frac{1}{s}}}.$$

Lemma 3.3 If $z \in S_u$, there holds

$$\lim_{d_s((t,x),(0,z))\to 0} \sup t^{\frac{N}{2s}} u(t,x) = \infty.$$
(3.50)

Proof. If (3.50) does not hold there exists $m, \epsilon_0 > 0$ such that

$$u(t,x) \le mt^{-\frac{N}{2s}}$$
 $\forall (t,x) \text{ s.t. } |x-z|^2 + t^{\frac{1}{s}} \le \epsilon_0^2.$

Hence

$$\gamma(t,x) := t^{\beta} u^{p-1}(t,x) \le m^p t^{\beta - \frac{N(p-1)}{2s}} \qquad \forall (t,x) \in (0,t_1) \times B_{\epsilon_1}(z),$$

where $\epsilon_1 = \frac{\epsilon_0}{2}$ and $t_1 = \left(\frac{3}{4}\right)^{2s} \epsilon_0^s$. By assumption $p < p_{\beta}^*$, or equivalently $\beta - \frac{N(p-1)}{2s} > -1$. Hence $\tilde{\gamma}(t) := \|\gamma(.,t)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\epsilon_1}(z))} \in L^1(0,t_1)$. We write the equation satisfied by u in $B_{\epsilon_1}(z) \times (0,t_1)$ in the form

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + \gamma(t, x) u = 0, \qquad (3.51)$$

and, as in the proof of Theorem A, we take for test function ϕ^q , where $q \ge 2$ and $\phi_{\epsilon} = \phi_{B_{\epsilon}(z)}$ is the first normalized eigenfunction of $(-\Delta)^s$ in $H^s_0(\phi_{B_{\epsilon}(z)})$ for some $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_1$. If λ_{ϵ} is the corresponding eigenvalue, we obtain as in Proposition 2.2,

$$\frac{d}{dt}e^{q\lambda_{\epsilon}t}\int_{B_{\epsilon}(z)}u\phi_{\epsilon}^{q}dx+e^{q\lambda_{\epsilon}t}\tilde{\gamma}(t)\int_{B_{\epsilon}(z)}u\phi_{\epsilon}^{q}dx\geq0.$$

If we put $X(t) = e^{q\lambda_{\epsilon}t} \int_{B_{\epsilon}(z)} u\phi_{\epsilon}^{q} dx$, then $X' + \tilde{\gamma}(t)X \ge 0$ on $(0, t_{1})$, which implies that the function $t \mapsto e^{\int_{0}^{t} \tilde{\gamma}(s) ds} X(t)$ is increasing on $(0, t_{1})$. Hence

which implies that $z \in \mathcal{R}_u$, contradiction.

Notice that the above lemma contains a result which is interesting in itself.

Corollary 3.4 If γ is a measurable function in $\mathbb{R}^N \times (0,T)$ such that for any compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ the function $\tilde{\gamma}_K(t) := \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in K} |\gamma(t,x)|$ is integrable on (0,T), then any nonnegative function $u \in L^1_{loc}(0,T; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfying (3.51) admits an initial trace ν which is a nonegative Radon measure in \mathbb{R}^N .

The next result is an Harnack-type inequality valid for positive solutions of (1.26). For the mere fractional heat equation, two-sided Harnack inequalities are proved in [11] and [15].

Lemma 3.5 Let $\theta > 0$ and w be a nonnegative solution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} . Then for any $t > \frac{t}{2} \ge s > \frac{t}{4}$ and $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $|x - y| \le \theta t^{\frac{1}{2s}}$, there holds

$$w(t,y) \ge Mw(x,s),\tag{3.52}$$

where M > 0 depends on N, s, β , p and θ .

Proof. Since w satisfies

$$\partial_t w + (-\Delta)^s w + \frac{C_*}{t} w \ge 0, \tag{3.53}$$

 $t^{C_*}w(t,.)$ is a supersolution of the fractional diffusion equation $\partial_t v + (-\Delta)^s v = 0$, hence

$$t^{C_*}w(t,x) \ge \left(\frac{t}{4}\right)^{C_*} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_s(\frac{3t}{4},x-z)w(\frac{t}{4},z)dz,$$

which implies, thanks to identity (1.35),

$$w(t,x) \geq \frac{3t}{c_3 4^{C_*+1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{w(\frac{t}{4},z) dz}{(\frac{3t}{4})^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |x-z|^{N+2s}}.$$

Since w is a subsolution of the fractional diffusion equation,

$$w(s,y) \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_s(s - \frac{t}{4}, y - z) w(\frac{t}{4}, z) dz \le c_3(s - \frac{t}{4}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{w(\frac{t}{4}, z) dz}{(s - \frac{t}{4})^{1 + \frac{N}{2s}} + |y - z|^{N + 2s}}$$

Hence

$$w(s,y) \le \frac{c_3^2 4^{C_*+1} (s-\frac{t}{4})}{3t} \left(\sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^N} \frac{(\frac{3t}{4})^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |x-z|^{N+2s}}{(s-\frac{t}{4})^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |y-z|^{N+2s}} \right) w(t,x)$$
(3.54)

If we assume that $|x - y| \le \theta t^{\frac{1}{2s}}$ for some $\theta > 0$, we obtain the claim.

End of the proof of Theorem F. By Lemma 3.3 there exists a sequence $\{t_n, x_n\} \subset Q_{\infty}$ converging to (0, z) such that

$$u(s_n, x_n) \ge n s_n^{-\frac{N}{2s}}.$$
(3.55)

By Lemma 3.5, there holds with $t_n = 2s_n$,

$$u(t_n, x) \ge Mnt_n^{-\frac{N}{2s}} \ge cnH_s(t_n, x - x_n) \qquad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^N \text{ s.t. } |x - x_n| \le \theta t_n^{\frac{1}{2s}}.$$
 (3.56)

for some c > 0 depending on M and θ . This implies

$$\int_{|x-x_n| \le \theta t_n^{\frac{1}{2s}}} u(t_n, x) dx \ge cn \int_{|x-x_n| \le \theta t_n^{\frac{1}{2s}}} H_s(t_n, x-x_n) dx \ge c'n.$$
(3.57)

Then for any $k \in (0, n)$ there exists $k_n \in (0, n)$ such that

$$ck_n \int_{|x-x_n| \le \theta t_n^{\frac{1}{2s}}} H_s(t_n, x - x_n) dx = k.$$
 (3.58)

Using (1.34)

$$\int_{|x-x_n| \le \theta t_n^{\frac{1}{2s}}} H_s(t_n, x-x_n) dx = \int_{B_\theta} \tilde{H}_s(y) dy,$$

hence $k_n \leq ck$ for some c > 0 independent of n. Set $v_n(x) = ck_n H_s(t_n, . - x_n) \chi_{B_{\theta t_n^{\frac{1}{2s}}}(x_n)}$. Then u is bounded from below in $(t_n, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$ by the function u_n which satisfies

$$\partial_t u_n + (-\Delta)^s u_n + t^\beta u_n^p = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad (t_n, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$$
$$u_n(t_n, .) = v_n, \tag{3.59}$$

which in turn, satisfies

$$u_n(t,x) \le \mathbb{H}_s[v_n](t-t_n,x) \le ck_nH_s(t,x-x_n) \quad \text{in} \quad (t_n,\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Since $p < p_{\beta}^*$, it is proved in [28, Th 1.1] that the set of functions $\{t^{\beta} (ck_nH_s(., -x_n))^p\}$ is uniformly integrable in Q_{∞} , and this property is shared by the set $\{t^{\beta} (u_n)^p\}$. Because $u_n(t_n, .) \to k\delta_z$ it follows that $u_n \to u_{k\delta_z}$ locally uniformly in Q_{∞} , and $u \ge u_{k\delta_z}$. Since k is arbitrary, the claim follows.

3.2 Proof of Theorem G (i)

When $f(t, x, u) = t^{\beta}g(u) := t^{\beta}u^{p}$, conditions (1.19) and (1.23) are fulfilled when p > 1 and $p > \beta + 2$ respectively. Condition $1 is not compatible with <math>p > \beta + 2$, and condition $p_{\beta}^{**} necessitates <math>\beta + 2 < 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{N}$, equivalently $\beta + 1 < \frac{2s}{N}$.

Step 1. The case $1). Let <math>z \in S_u$. Since $r \mapsto r^p$ satisfies (1.15) there holds $u \ge u_{z,\infty}$ by Theorem C. Since $u_{z,\infty} = U_{p,\beta}$ by (1.29), we obtaind that $u \ge U_{p,\beta}$. If we assume that $u \in L^1_{loc}(0,T;\mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$ then $u = U_{p,\beta}$ by Theorem D.

Step 2. The case $p = 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{N+2s}$. We set $u_{\infty} = u_{0,\infty}$. From [28, Lemma 5.3],

$$u_{\infty}(t,x) \ge \frac{c_7 t^{-\frac{N+2s}{2s}}}{1+|t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}x|^{N+2s}} \qquad \forall (t,x) \in (0,1) \times \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(3.60)

where $c_7 > 0$. Since

$$\int_{B_1} \frac{t^{-\frac{N+2s}{2s}} dx}{1+|t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}x|^{N+2s}} = t^{-1} \int_0^1 \frac{r^{N-1} dr}{1+r^{N+2s}},$$

it follows from (3.60) that

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{B_{1}(0)} u_{\infty}(t, x) dx dt = +\infty.$$
(3.61)

By Proposition 6.1 in Appendix, $x \mapsto u_k(t, x)$ is radially symmetric and decreasing, so is u_{∞} . Therefore, if we are able to prove that there exists $x \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\lim_{t \to 0} u_{\infty}(t, x) = \infty$, it will imply

$$\lim_{t \to 0} u_{\infty}(t, z) = \infty \qquad \text{uniformly with respect to z in } \overline{B}_{|x|}(0).$$

Hence $\overline{B}_{|x|}(0) \subset \mathcal{S}_{u_{\infty}}$ and by Theorem C,

$$u_{\infty}(t,x) \ge u_{z,\infty}(t,x) = u_{\infty}(t,x-z) \qquad \forall z \in \overline{B}_{|x|}(0)$$
(3.62)

Because u_{∞} is radially symmetric and decreasing, it implies that

$$u_{\infty}(t,x) = u_{\infty}(t,x-z) \qquad \forall z \in \overline{B}_{|x|}(0).$$
(3.63)

By iterating this process we infer that $u_{\infty}(t, x)$ is indeed independent of x and tends to ∞ when $t \to 0$. It coincides therefore to the maximal solution $U_{p,\beta}$ of (1.21) with $g(u) = u^p$.

Henceforth we are lead to prove that $S_{u_{\infty}} \cap \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\} \neq \emptyset$. We proceed by contradiction in supposing that it does not hold, and let $x_0 \in S_{u_{\infty}}^c \cap \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}$. Then $\limsup_{t \to 0} u_{\infty}(t, x_0) < \infty$ and

$$\sup_{0 < t \le 1} u_{\infty}(t, x) \le \sup_{0 < t \le 1} u_{\infty}(t, x_0) := M < \infty \quad \text{uniformly with respect to } x \text{ in } \overline{B}^c_{|x_0|}(0).$$
(3.64)

By rescaling we can assume that $|x_0| = 1$. Let $\bar{x} \in \overline{B}_3^c$ and $\eta \in C_0^2(B_1(\bar{x}))$ such that $\eta \ge 0$ and $\eta = 1$ on $\overline{B}_{\frac{1}{2}}(\bar{x})$. We denote

$$X_1(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_{\infty}(t,x)\eta(x)dx, \quad Y_1(t) = t^{\beta} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_{\infty}^p(t,x)\eta(x)dx, \quad Z_1(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_{\infty}(t,x)(-\Delta)^s \eta(x)dx,$$

and there holds

$$X'_{1}(t) + Z_{1}(t) + Y_{1}(t) = 0$$
 on $(0, 1].$ (3.65)

Since u_{∞} is bounded in $(0,1] \times B_2(\bar{x})$ by (3.64), $X_1(t)$ and $Y_1(t)$ remains bounded on (0,1].

$$Z_1(t) = \int_{B_1} u_{\infty}(t,x)(-\Delta)^s \eta(x) dx + \int_{B_1^c} u_{\infty}(t,x)(-\Delta)^s \eta(x) dx := Z_{1,1}(t) + Z_{1,2}(t).$$

Since η has its support in $B_1(\bar{x})$, there exists $c_8 > 0$ such that

$$(-\Delta)^s \eta(x) \le -c_8 \qquad \forall x \in B_1(0).$$

Using (3.61) we obtain that

$$\int_{0}^{1} Z_{1,1}(s) ds = -\infty.$$

Using (2.17) in Lemma 2.5, we have

$$|Z_{1,2}(t)| \le c_5 \|\eta\|_{C^2} \int_{B_1^c} \frac{u_\infty(t,x)dx}{1+|x|^{N+2s}} \le c_9 \int_1^\infty \frac{r^{N-1}dr}{1+r^{N+2s}}$$

Hence

$$\int_0^1 Z_1(s)ds = -\infty.$$

Integrating (3.65) it contradicts the boundedness of X_1 and Y_1 . Hence, for any $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$,

$$\limsup_{t \to 0} u_{\infty}(t, z) = \infty.$$
(3.66)

Using again the fact that $x \mapsto u_{\infty}(t, x)$ is radial and decreasing with respect to |x|, we get

$$\limsup_{t \to 0} \int_{B_{\rho}(z)} u_{\infty}(t, x) dx = \infty \qquad \forall \, \rho > 0.$$
(3.67)

By Theorem C, we infer that $u_{\infty}(t,x) \geq u_{z,\infty}(t,x) = u_{\infty}(t,x-z)$. Interchanging 0 and z we conclude again that $u_{\infty}(t,x)$ depends only on t, hence it coincides with $U_{\beta,p}(t)$, and clearly $S_{u_{\infty}} = \mathbb{R}^{N}$.

3.3 Proof of Theorem G (ii)

We assume that $\kappa \geq 1$ and $\mathcal{L} = \{0_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}}\} \times \mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}$. We set $x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}^{\kappa} \times \mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}$. We use Theorem G (i) with N replace by $N - \kappa$ to prove the part (ii). If $x = (x_1, x')$, then $\bar{x} = (0, x') \in \mathcal{L}$, hence by [28, Th 1.3 (ii)]

$$u_{\infty}(t, x - \bar{x}) \ge \frac{c_{10}t^{-\frac{N+2s}{2s}}}{1 + (t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}|x - \bar{x}|)^{N+2s}} = \frac{c_{10}t^{-\frac{N+2s}{2s}}}{1 + (t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}|x_1|)^{N+2s}}$$

By Theorem C, we obtain

$$u(t,x) \ge \frac{c_{10}t^{-\frac{N+2s}{2s}}}{1+(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}|x_1|)^{N+2s}} \qquad \forall (t,x) := (t,x_1,x') \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^{\kappa} \times \mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}.$$
(3.68)

For $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, set $t_n = n^{-2s}$, $\rho_0 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N-\kappa}} \frac{dy'}{1+|y'|^{N+2s}}$, $\lambda_0 = \rho_0^{\frac{1}{p-1}}$ and

$$f_n(x_1) = \frac{c_{10}\lambda_0(\rho_0 t_n)^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}}{1 + \left((\rho_0 t_n)^{-\frac{1}{2s}}|x_1|\right)^{N+2s}}.$$

Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{\kappa}} f_n(x_1) dx_1 = c_{\kappa} t_n^{\frac{\kappa}{2s} - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} \int_0^\infty \frac{r^{\kappa-1} dr}{1 + r^{N+2s}}$$

for some $c_{\kappa} > 0$. Since $p < 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{\kappa}$ the above integral is finite for any n but tends to ∞ with n. Hence we fix m > 0, then for any $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ there exists $\epsilon_{n,m} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{|x_1| \le \epsilon_{n,m}} f_n(x_1) dx_1 = m = c_{\kappa} t_n^{\frac{\kappa}{2s} - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} \int_0^{\epsilon_{n,m} t_n^{-\frac{N+2s}{2s}}} \frac{r^{\kappa - 1} dr}{1 + r^{N+2s}}$$

Hence $\epsilon_{n,m} \to 0$ when $n \to \infty$. This implies that for any $\zeta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{\kappa})$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{|x_1| \le \epsilon_{n,m}} f_n(x_1) dx_1 = m\zeta(0).$$

Equivalently $f_{n,m} := f_n \chi_{B_{\epsilon_{n,m}}} \to m \delta_0$ in the sense of measures in \mathbb{R}^{κ} . Let $w_{n,m}$ be the solution of

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}^\kappa} u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^\kappa u(0, \cdot) = f_{n,m} \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^\kappa,$$
(3.69)

in which formula $(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}^\kappa}$ denotes the fractional Laplacian in \mathbb{R}^κ , an index omitted if $\kappa = N$. Then $\tilde{w}_{n,m}(t, x_1, x') = w_{n,m}(t, x_1)$ is a solution of

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N u(0, \cdot) = \tilde{f}_{n,m} \qquad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(3.70)

with $\tilde{f}_{n,m}(x_1, x') = f_{n,m}(x_1)$. Since $u(t_n, x) \geq \tilde{f}_n(x)$ in \mathbb{R}^N , we obtain by the comparison principle that $u(t + t_n, x) \geq \tilde{w}_{n,m}(t, x)$ in $\mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}^N$. Hence, by letting successively $n \to \infty$ and $m \to \infty$,

$$u(t+t_n, x_1, x') \ge w_{n,m}(t, x_1) \Longrightarrow u(t, x_1, x') \ge u_{m\delta_0}^{\kappa}(t, x_1) \Longrightarrow u(t, x_1, x') \ge u_{\infty}^{\kappa}(t, x_1), \quad (3.71)$$

where we have denoted by $u_{m\delta_0}^{\kappa}$ and u_{∞}^{κ} respectively the solution of the equation in (3.69) with $m\delta_0$ as initial data and the limit of this solution when $m \to \infty$. Since $1 , <math>u_{\infty}^{\kappa} = U_{p,\beta}$ by (i), which ends the proof.

Remark. It appears interesting to investigate whether the fact that the singular set S_u contains a $(N-\kappa)$ -dimensional plane can be replaced by S_u contains a $(N-\kappa)$ -dimensional submanifold.

4 Solution with a given initial trace: the general case

4.1 Problem with initial data measure

If ν is a bounded Radon measure on an open set $\mathcal{R} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$, that we note $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}^b(\mathcal{R})$), we extend it by 0 in $\mathcal{S} = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \mathcal{R}$ and the new measure still denoted by ν , belongs to the space $\mathfrak{M}^b(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of bounded Radon measures on \mathbb{R}^N . Conversely, if $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}^b(\mathbb{R}^N)$ vanishes on $\mathcal{S} = \mathbb{R}^N \setminus \mathcal{R}$ its restriction to \mathcal{R} belongs to $\mathfrak{M}^b(\mathcal{R})$.

Definition 4.1 A nonnegative bounded Radon measure ν in \mathbb{R}^N is an admissible measure if there exists a function $u = u_{\nu} \in L^1(Q_T)$ with $t^{\beta} u^p \in L^1(Q_T)$ solution of

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty$$

$$u(0, .) = \nu.$$
(4.1)

It is a good measure if the sequence u_{ν_n} of solutions of (4.1) with initial data $\nu_n = \nu * \rho_n$, where $\{\rho_n\}$ is a sequence of mollifiers, converges to u_{ν} in $L^1(Q_T)$ and if $t^{\beta}u_{\nu_n}^p$ converges to $t^{\beta}u^p \in L^1(Q_T)$.

Uniqueness of solutions is proved in [28] as a result of the choice of $\mathbb{Y}_{s,T}$ as space of test functions. Notice also that if $p < p^*_{\beta}$ any nonnegative bounded measure is good. The following result will be useful in the sequel.

Proposition 4.1 Let p > 1 and $\beta > -1$. If $\nu, \mu \in \mathfrak{M}^b_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$ are good measures (resp. admissible measures), then $\nu + \mu$ is a good measure (resp. admissible measure).

Proof. We set $\nu_n = \nu * \rho_n$ and $\mu_n = \mu * \rho_n$ and denote by u_{ν_n} , u_{μ_n} and $u_{\nu_n+\mu_n}$ the solutions of the initial value problem (4.1) with ν replaced by ν_n , μ_n and $\nu_n + \mu_n$ respectively. Since p > 1, $u_{\nu_n} + u_{\mu_n}$ is a supersolution of (1.26). Hence $u_{\nu_n+\mu_n} \leq u_{\nu_n} + u_{\mu_n}$. When $n \to \infty$, $u_{\nu_n+\mu_n}$ converges a.e. to some function u (see [28]). Since u_{ν_n} and u_{μ_n} converges in $L^1(Q_T)$, the sequence $u_{\nu_n+\mu_n}$ is uniformly integrable in Q_T , it converges to some w (up to extraction of a subsequence). Furthermore,

$$(u_{\nu_n+\mu_n})^p \le (u_{\nu_n}+u_{\mu_n})^p \le 2^{p-1} \left(u_{\nu_n}^p + u_{\mu_n}^p \right).$$

Since $t^{\beta}u_{\nu_n}^p$ and $t^{\beta}u_{\mu_n}^p$ converges in $L^1(Q_T)$ to $t^{\beta}u_{\nu}^p$ and $t^{\beta}u_{\mu}^p$ respectively, they are uniformly integrable. Hence the sequence $\{t^{\beta}(u_{\nu_n+\mu_n})^p\}$ is uniformly integrable in Q_T and thus, up to extraction of a second subsequence, $t^{\beta}(u_{\nu_n+\mu_n})^p$ converges to $t^{\beta}w^p$ in $L^1(Q_T)$. Going to the limit in the formulation (2.21) of the fact $u_{\nu_n+\mu_n}$ is a weak solution of (4.1) with initial data $\nu_n + \mu_n$, it follows that w satisfies the same equation (4.1) but now with initial data $\mu + \nu$. By uniqueness (see [28, Th 1.1] and notice that therein uniqueness needs no more condition on hthan monotonicity), $w = u_{\nu+\mu}$ and the whole sequence $\{u_{\nu_n+\mu_n}\}$ converges to $u_{\nu+\mu}$. The proof in the case of admissible measures is similar.

Proposition 4.2 Let p > 1 and $\beta > -1$. If $\{\nu_k\} \subset \mathfrak{M}^b_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is a nondecreasing sequence of admissible measures converging to $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}^b_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$, then ν is an admissible measure.

Proof. The sequence $\{u_{\nu_k}\}$ is increasing. Furthermore,

$$u_{\nu_k} \leq \mathbb{H}_s[\nu_k] \leq \mathbb{H}_s[\nu].$$

Hence there exists some $u \in L^1(Q_T)$ for any T > 0, $u \ge 0$, such that $u_{\nu_n} \to u$ in $L^1(Q_T)$ and a.e. in Q_{∞} . By identity (3.25) in the proof of [28, Th. 1.1], we have for $\tau \ge T$,

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left(u_{\nu_{k}} + (\tau - t) t^{\beta} u_{\nu_{k}}^{q} \right) dx dt + (\tau - T) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u_{\nu_{k}}(T, x) dx = \tau \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} d\nu_{k} \le 2\tau \|\nu\|_{\mathfrak{M}^{b}_{+}}.$$
 (4.2)

Hence $t^{\beta}u^q \in L^1(Q_T)$ and $t^{\beta}u^q_{\nu_k} \to t^{\beta}u^q$ in $L^1(Q_T)$. By (2.21) there holds

$$\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left[u_{\nu_k} \left(-\partial_t \xi + (-\Delta)^s \xi \right) + t^\beta u_{\nu_k}^q \xi \right] dx dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \xi(0, x) d\nu_k(x),$$

for all $\xi \in \mathbb{Y}_{s,T}$, so it follows that $u = u_{\nu}$. Hence ν is an admissible measure.

The whole description of the set of admissible measures necessitates the introduction of Bessel capacities as in the case s = 1, see [37], [41]. We have a first partial answer.

Lemma 4.3 Let p > 1 and $\beta > -1$. If $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}^b_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$ satisfies $t^{\beta}(\mathbb{H}_s[\nu])^p \in L^1(Q_T)$, then ν is a good measure.

Proof. Let $\nu_n = \nu * \rho_n$, by the maximum principle

$$u_{\nu_n} \leq \mathbb{H}_s[\nu_n] = \mathbb{H}_s[\nu * \rho_n] = \mathbb{H}_s[\nu] * \rho_n.$$

Since $\mathbb{H}_s[\nu] \in L^1(Q_T)$, $\mathbb{H}_s[\nu] * \rho_n \to \mathbb{H}_s[\nu]$ in $L^1(Q_T)$. Similarly $t^{\beta}(\mathbb{H}_s[\nu] * \rho_n)^p \to t^{\beta}(\mathbb{H}_s[\nu])^p$ in $L^1(Q_T)$. Since $u_{\nu_n} \leq \mathbb{H}_s[\nu] * \rho_n$, we conclude that the sequences $\{u_{\nu_n}\}$ and $\{t^{\beta}u_{\nu_n}^p\}$ are uniformly integrable in $L^1(Q_T)$, hence they are precompact by Vitali's convergence theorem. As in the proof of Proposition 4.1 any cluster point w in the $L^1(Q_T)$ -topology of the sequence $\{u_{\nu_n}\}$ is a weak solution of (4.1) with initial data ν hence $w = u_{\nu}$ and $u_{\nu_n} \to u_{\nu}$ by uniqueness of the solution.

Proposition 4.4 Let p > 1 and $\beta > -1$. Assume that $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}^b_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with Lebesgue decomposition $\nu = \nu_0 + \nu_s$, where ν_0 and ν_s belong to $\mathfrak{M}^b_+(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $\nu_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and ν_s is singular with respect to the N-dim Lebesgue measure. If $t^{\beta}(\mathbb{H}_s[\nu_s])^p \in L^1(Q_T)$, then ν is a good measure.

Proof. By [28, Lemma 3.2] there exists a unique solution u_{ν_0} (resp. ν_s) to problem (4.1) with ν replaced by ν_0 . (resp. ν_s). By [28, Lemma 3.2] the sequences $\{u_{\nu_0*\rho_n}\}$ and $\{t^{\beta}u^p_{\nu_0*\rho_n}\}$ are Cauchy sequences in $L^1(Q_T)$. By Lemma 4.3, the sequences $\{u_{\nu_s*\rho_n}\}$ and $\{t^{\beta}u^p_{\nu_s*\rho_n}\}$ share the same property. Hence ν_0 and ν_s are good measures and we conclude with Proposition 4.1.

We recall some classical results about Bessel potentials, capacities and interpolation. For $0 < \gamma < N$, the Bessel kernel J_{γ} is defined in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}$ by $J_{\gamma}(x) = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\left((1+|\xi|^2)^{-\frac{\gamma}{2}}\right)$, where \mathcal{F} is the Fourier transform in \mathbb{R}^N , and the Bessel potential of a positive measure is

$$\mathbf{J}_{\gamma}[\mu](x) = J_{\gamma} * \mu(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} J_{\gamma}(x-y) d\mu(y).$$
(4.3)

For $1 \leq r < \infty$, the Bessel capacity $\operatorname{cap}_{\gamma,r}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$ of a compact set is

$$\operatorname{cap}_{\gamma,r}^{\mathbb{R}^N}(K) = \inf\{\|\mathbf{J}_{\gamma}[\zeta]\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^N)}^r : \zeta \in \omega_K\},\tag{4.4}$$

where ω_K is the subset of nonnegative function belonging to the Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, with value larger or equal to 1 on K. Furthermore

$$(-\Delta + I)^{\frac{\gamma}{2}}\phi = \zeta \Longleftrightarrow \mathbf{J}_{\gamma}[\zeta] = \phi.$$
(4.5)

If a linear m-accretive operator A in $L^r(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with domain D(A) is the infinitesimal generator of an analytic semigroup of bounded linear operators $S^A(t)$, i.e.

$$u(t) = S_t^{-A} v \quad \forall t \ge 0 \Longleftrightarrow \frac{du}{dt} + Au = 0 \quad \text{on } \mathbb{R}^*_+, \ u(0) = v, \tag{4.6}$$

the real interpolation classes between D(A) and $L^r(\mathbb{R}^N)$ can be obtained (see [49, p. 96]) by

$$\left[D(A), L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{N})\right]_{\theta, r} = \left\{ \upsilon \in L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) : \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} t^{(1-\theta)r} |AS_{t}^{A}\upsilon|^{r} dx \frac{dt}{t} < +\infty \right\},$$
(4.7)

and

$$\|v\|_{[D(A),L^{r}]_{\theta,r}} \equiv \|v\|_{L^{r}} + \left(\int_{0}^{1} \|t^{1-\theta}AS_{t}^{A}v\|_{L^{r}}^{r} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}}.$$
(4.8)

If $A = (-\Delta)^s + I$, its domain D(A) in $L^r(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the Bessel potential space $(I - \Delta)^{-s}(L^r(\mathbb{R}^N)) = L^{2s,r}(\mathbb{R}^N)$: the result is stated in [34, Th 1] but it is an easy consequence of [47, Chap. 4, Th 3] applied to the Fourier multipliers $(I + |\xi|^2)^s (1 + |\xi|^{2s})^{-1}$ and $(I + |\xi|^2)^{-s} (1 + |\xi|^{2s})$. By classical interpolation properties of Bessel potential spaces (see e.g. [49]),

$$\left[D(A), L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{N})\right]_{\theta, r} = L^{2\theta s, r}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) = (I - \Delta)^{-\theta s}(L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{N})).$$

$$(4.9)$$

Since A is coercive, [49, Sec. 1.14.5], (4.8) can be replaced by

$$\|v\|_{[D(A),L^{r}]_{\theta,r}} \equiv \left(\int_{0}^{1} \|t^{1-\theta}AS_{t}^{A}v\|_{L^{r}}^{r} \frac{dt}{t}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}}.$$
(4.10)

Proposition 4.5 Let $N \ge 1$, p > 1 and $-1 < \beta < p - 1$. If problem (4.1) admits a positive solution u_{ν} for some $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}_{b}^{+}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$, then ν vanishes on Borel subsets of \mathbb{R}^{N} with zero Bessel capacity cap $\mathbb{R}_{p}^{\mathbb{R}^{N}}$, where $p' = \frac{p}{p-1}$, i.e.

$$\forall K \subset \mathbb{R}^N, K \text{ Borel, } \operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p}, p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}(K) = 0 \Longrightarrow \nu(K) = 0.$$
(4.11)

Proof. Assume that $u := u_{\nu}$ is the solution of (4.1). Since $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$ is a Choquet capacity, let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is compact and $\zeta \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ be such that $0 \leq \zeta$ in \mathbb{R}^N and $\zeta \geq 1$ on K. We set $\Phi = e^{-t} \mathbb{H}_s[\zeta]$ and take $\Phi^{p'}$ as a test function. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u \Phi^{p'}(1, .) dx + \int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left[\left(-\partial_{t} \Phi^{p'} + (-\Delta)^{s} \Phi^{p'} \right) u + t^{\beta} u^{p} \Phi^{p'} \right] dx dt = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \Phi^{p'} d\nu.$$
(4.12)

Note that $(-\Delta)^s \Phi^{p'} \ge p' \Phi^{p'-1} (-\Delta)^s \Phi$ and $\partial_t \Phi + (-\Delta)^s \Phi + \Phi = 0$, hence

$$-\partial_t \Phi^{p'} + (-\Delta)^s \Phi^{p'} \ge 2p' \Phi^{p'-1} (-\Delta)^s \Phi$$

Then we adapt the duality argument of [7] and get from Hölder's inequality

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u\Phi^{p'}(1,x)dx + 2p' \left(\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^{-\frac{p'\beta}{p}} \left|(-\Delta)^s \Phi + \Phi\right|^{p'} dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^\beta u^p \Phi^{p'} dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &+ \int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^\beta u^p \Phi^{p'} dx dt \ge \nu(K). \end{split}$$

Applying (4.7), (4.9) with $r = p', \ \theta = \frac{1+\beta}{p}$, we obtain directly for some $c_{11} > 1$,

$$\frac{1}{c_{11}} \|\zeta\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} \le \left(\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^{-\frac{p'\beta}{p}} \left| (-\Delta)^s \Phi + \Phi \right|^{p'} dx dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \le c_{11} \|\zeta\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}}.$$
(4.13)

If $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}(K) = 0$, there exists a sequence $\{\zeta_n\} \subset \omega_K$ such that $\|\zeta_n\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Furthermore it is possible to assume $\zeta_n \leq 1$ in \mathbb{R}^N (see [3]). Hence, up to a subsequence, $\zeta_n \to 0$ a.e. in \mathbb{R}^N . This implies $\Phi_n \leq 1$ and $\Phi_n \to 0$ a.e. in Q_∞ . Therefore,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \Phi_n^{p'}(1, x) dx \text{ and } \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^\beta u^p \Phi_n^{p'} dx dt = 0.$$

Combining the previous inequalities we infer that $\nu(K) = 0$.

Proposition 4.5 is the necessary condition in Theorem H. The next result provides the sufficient condition.

Proposition 4.6 Let $N \ge 1$, p > 1, $-1 < \beta < p-1$ and $\nu \in \mathfrak{M}_b^+(\mathbb{R}^N)$ which vanishes on Borel subsets of \mathbb{R}^N with zero $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$ -Bessel capacity. Then ν is an admissible measure.

Proof. If ν vanishes Borel subsets with zero $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$, there exists an increasing sequence of nonnegative measures $\{\nu_n\} \subset \left(L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p'}(\mathbb{R}^N)\right)' = L^{-\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $\nu_n \to \nu$ in the sense of measures. This results is classical in the integer case and a proof in the Bessel case (similar in fact) can be found in [50, Prop. 3.6]. Next let $\zeta \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $\Phi = e^{-t}\mathbb{H}_s[\zeta]$, then

Hence

$$\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \mathbb{H}_{s}[\nu_{n}] \left((-\Delta)^{s} \Phi + \Phi \right) dx dt \leq \|\nu_{n}\|_{L^{-\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p}} \|\zeta\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p'}}$$

Consider the mapping

$$\zeta \mapsto L(\zeta) = \int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^{\frac{\beta}{p}} \mathbb{H}_s[\nu_n] t^{-\frac{\beta}{p}} \left((-\Delta)^s \Phi + \delta \Phi \right) dx dt.$$

It satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} |L(\zeta)| &\leq \|\nu_n\|_{L^{-\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p}} \|\zeta\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p'}} \\ &\leq c \|\nu_n\|_{L^{-\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p}} \left(\int_0^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^{-\frac{p'\beta}{p}} |(-\Delta)^s \Phi + \delta \Phi|^{p'} \, dx dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}}, \end{aligned}$$
(4.14)

by (4.13). Hence $t^{\frac{\beta}{p}}\mathbb{H}_s[\nu_n] \in L^p(Q_1)$ and

$$\left(\int_{0}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} t^{\beta} \left(\mathbb{H}_{s}[\nu_{n}]\right)^{p} dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq c_{12} \|\nu_{n}\|_{L^{-\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p-1},p}}.$$
(4.15)

Hence the ν_n are good measures by Lemma 4.3. Then by Proposition 4.2, ν is an admissible measure.

Remark. When s = 1 and $\beta = 0$, it is proved in [7] that the admissibility condition for measures is strongly linked to the removability for Borel sets in the sense that if $K \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is a Borel set with zero $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$ -capacity, any $u \in C(\overline{Q}_{\infty} \setminus \{(0,K)\}) \cap C^{1,2}(Q_{\infty})$ solution of (1.14) in Q_{∞} which vanishes on (0, x) for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^N \setminus K$ is identically zero. The set K is said removable. Furthermore, the condition is also necessary. Now, for equation (1.14) it is clear that a compact set Kwith positive $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$ -capacity it is not removable since it is the support of the capacitary measure (a positive measure belonging to $L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, [1, Chap. 2]) which is a good measure by Lemma 4.3. We conjecture that the condition $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}(K) = 0$ implies the removability of the compact set K for equation (1.26) in the sense given above.

4.2 Barrier function for N = 1

We set

$$W(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\ln(e+z^2)}{1+z^{1+2s}} & \text{if } z \ge 0\\ 1 & \text{if } z < 0, \end{cases}$$
(4.16)

where e is Neper constant, and

$$w(t,x) = t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} W(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}x), \quad \forall (t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}.$$
(4.17)

When $t \to 0$, the function w satisfies

(i)
$$w(t,x) = \frac{2t^{\frac{1+2s}{2s} - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} \ln t}{|x|^{1+2s}} (1+o(1)) \quad \text{if} \quad x > 0, \tag{4.18}$$

(*ii*)
$$w(t,x) = t^{-\frac{1+p}{p-1}}$$
 if $x \le 0$.

Lemma 4.1 Assume that $p > 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$. Then there exists $\lambda_0 > 0$ such that for $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$, the function $w_{\lambda} := \lambda w$ satisfies

$$\partial_t w_{\lambda} + (-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}} w_{\lambda} + t^{\beta} w^p_{\lambda} \ge 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}$$
$$\lim_{t \to 0} w(t, x) = 0 \qquad \text{if} \quad x > 0$$
$$\lim_{t \to 0} w(t, x) = \infty \qquad \text{if} \quad x \le 0.$$
(4.19)

Proof. Clearly the assertions concerning the limit of w(t, x) when $t \to 0$ are satisfied since $\frac{1+2s}{2s} - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1} > 0$ by assumption. Then

$$\partial_t w_{\lambda}(t,x) = -\frac{\lambda(1+\beta)}{p-1} t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}-1} w(z) - \frac{\lambda}{2s} t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}-1} w'(z)z,$$

with $z = t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}x$ and

$$(-\Delta)_1^s w_\lambda(t,x) = \lambda t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}-1} (-\Delta)_1^s w(z).$$

Hence

$$\partial_t w_{\lambda}(t,x) + (-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}} w_{\lambda}(t,x) + t^{\beta} w^p_{\lambda}(t,x) = \lambda t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}-1} \left[(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}} w(z) - \frac{1}{2s} w'(z)z - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1} w(z) + \lambda^{p-1} w^p(z) \right].$$
(4.20)

If z > 0, we obtain that

$$-\frac{1}{2s}w'(z)z - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}w(z) = \left[\frac{1+2s}{2s}\frac{z^{1+2s}}{1+z^{1+2s}} - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1} - \frac{z^2(e+z^2)^{-1}}{s\ln(e+z^2)}\right]w(z).$$

Since $\frac{1+2s}{2s} > \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}$, $\lim_{z \to \infty} \frac{z^{1+2s}}{1+z^{1+2s}} = 1$ and $\lim_{z \to \infty} \frac{1}{\ln(e+z^2)} = 0$, then there exist $R_0 > 0$ and $\sigma_0 > 0$ such that

$$-\frac{1}{2s}w'(z)z - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}w(z) \ge \sigma_0 w(z) \qquad \forall z \ge R_0.$$
(4.21)

Next we deal with $(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}} w(z)$ and put

$$\tilde{w}(z) = \frac{\ln(e+z^2)}{1+|z|^{1+2s}} \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R},$$

so that $(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}}w(z) = (-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}}\tilde{w}(z) + (-\Delta)^s_1(1-\tilde{w}\chi_{\mathbb{R}_-})(z)$. For z > 2, using the equivalent definition of fractional Laplacian, we have that

$$-(-\Delta)_{\mathbb{R}}^{s}\tilde{w}(z) = \frac{a_{1,s}}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\frac{\ln(e+|z+\tilde{y}|^2)}{1+|z+\tilde{y}|^{1+2s}} + \frac{\ln(e+|z-\tilde{y}|^2)}{1+|z-\tilde{y}|^{1+2s}} - \frac{2\ln(e+z^2)}{1+z^{1+2s}}}{|\tilde{y}|^{1+2s}} d\tilde{y}$$

$$= \frac{a_{1,s}w(z)}{2z^{2s}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{I_z(y)}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy,$$
(4.22)

where

$$I_z(y) = \frac{1+z^{N+2s}}{1+z^{1+2s}|1+y|^{1+2s}} \frac{\ln(e+z^2|1+y|^2)}{\ln(e+z^2)} + \frac{1+z^{1+2s}}{1+z^{1+2s}|1-y|^{1+2s}} \frac{\ln(e+z^2|1-y|^2)}{\ln(e+z^2)} - 2.$$

Step 1: There exists $c_{12} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{\frac{1}{2} \le |y| \le \frac{3}{2}} \frac{I_z(y)}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy \le \frac{c_{12}}{w(z)z}.$$
(4.23)

Actually, for $-\frac{3}{2} < y < -\frac{1}{2}$, there exists $c_{13} > 0$ such that

$$\frac{1+z^{1+2s}}{1+z^{1+2s}|1-y|^{1+2s}}\frac{\ln(e+z^2|1-y|^2)}{\ln(e+z^2)} \le c_{13}$$

and then

$$\begin{split} \int_{-\frac{3}{2}}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \frac{I_z(y)}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy &\leq 2 \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1+z^{1+2s}}{1+(zr)^{1+2s}} \frac{\ln(e+z^2r^2)}{\ln(e+z^2)} dr + c_{14} \\ &\leq \frac{2}{w(z)z} \int_0^\infty \frac{\ln(e+t^2)}{1+t^{1+2s}} dt + c_{14} \\ &\leq \frac{c_{15}}{w(z)z}, \end{split}$$

where $c_{14}, c_{15} > 0$, and the last inequality holds since $w(z)z \to 0$ as $z \to +\infty$. Similarly,

$$\int_{\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{I_z(y)}{y^{N+2s}} dy_1 \le \frac{c_{16}}{w(z)z}.$$

Step 2: There exists $c_{17} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{I_z(y)}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy \le c_{17}.$$
(4.24)

Indeed, since function I_z is C^2 in $\left[-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right]$ and satisfies

$$I_z(0) = 0$$
 and $I_z(y) = I_z(-y)$,

then $I'_{z}(0) = 0$ and there exists $c_{18} > 0$ such that

$$|I_z''(y)| \le c_{18}$$
 for any $y \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}].$

Then we have

$$|I_z(y)| \le \frac{c_{18}}{2}y^2$$
 for any $y \in [-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}],$

which implies that

$$\left| \int_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{I_z(y)}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy \right| \le c_{19}$$

Step 3: There exists $c_{20} > 0$ such that

$$\int_{A} \frac{I_{z}(y)}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy \bigg| \le c_{20}, \tag{4.25}$$

where $A = (-\infty, -\frac{3}{2}) \cup (\frac{3}{2}, +\infty)$. In fact, for $y \in A$, we observe that there exists $c_{21} > 0$ such that $I_z(y) \leq c_{21}$ and

$$\int_{A} \frac{I_{z}(y)}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy \le 2 \int_{\frac{3}{2}}^{+\infty} \frac{c_{21}}{|y|^{1+2s}} dy \le c_{22}$$

for some $c_{22} > 0$. Consequently, by (4.22)-(4.25), there exists $c_{23} > 0$ such that

$$(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}}\tilde{w}(z) \ge -\frac{c_{23}}{1+z^{1+2s}} \qquad \forall \, z \ge 2$$

Since $1 - \tilde{w}\chi_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} = 1$ in \mathbb{R}_{+} and $1 - \tilde{w}\chi_{\mathbb{R}_{-}} \leq 1$ in \mathbb{R}_{-} , we have also

$$(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}}(1-\tilde{w}\chi_{\mathbb{R}_-})(z) \ge 0 \qquad \forall \, z > 0.$$

Therefore, we obtain that

$$(-\Delta)^s_{\mathbb{R}}w(z) \ge -\frac{c_{23}}{1+z^{1+2s}} \quad \forall z \ge 2.$$
 (4.26)

Combining (4.21) and (4.26), we infer that there exists $R_1 \ge R_0 + 2$ such that for $z > R_1$,

$$(-\Delta)^{s}_{\mathbb{R}}w(z) - \frac{1}{2s}w'(z)z - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}w(z) \ge \sigma_{0}w(z) - \frac{c_{23}}{1+z^{1+2s}}$$
$$= w(z)\left(\sigma_{0} - \frac{c_{23}}{\ln(e+z^{2})}\right)$$
$$\ge 0.$$

For $z \leq R_1$, there exists $c_{24} > 0$ such that

$$(-\Delta)^{s}_{\mathbb{R}}w(z) - \frac{1}{2s}w'(z)z - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}w(z) \ge -c_{24},$$

and there exists $c_{25} > 0$ dependent of R_1 such that

$$w(z) \ge c_{25}$$

Therefore, one can find $\Lambda_0 > 0$ such that for $\lambda \ge \Lambda_0$,

$$(-\Delta)^{w}_{\mathbb{R}}(z) - \frac{1}{2s}w'(z)z - \frac{1+\beta}{p-1}w(z) + \lambda^{p-1}w^{p}(z) \ge 0 \qquad \forall z \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.27)

which, together with (4.20), implies that (4.19) holds true. This ends the proof.

4.3 Solutions with initial trace $(\mathcal{S}, 0)$

Lemma 4.7 Assume that $N \ge 1$ and $p > 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$. Then for any R > 0 there exists a positive function $u = u_{\infty,B_R}$ minimal among the solutions of (1.26) in Q_{∞} , which satisfy

$$\lim_{t \to 0} u(t, x) = \infty \quad \text{uniformly in} \quad \overline{B}_R$$

$$\lim_{t \to 0} u(t, x) = 0 \quad \text{uniformly in} \quad B_{R'}^c \quad \text{for any } R' > R.$$
(4.28)

Furthermore, the mapping $R \mapsto u_{\infty,B_R}$ is increasing.

Proof. By scaling we can assume that R = 1 and we fix $\lambda \ge \lambda_0$. We denote by \mathbf{e}_1 the point with coordinates (1, 0, ..., 0) in \mathbb{R}^N . The function

$$(t,x) \mapsto w_{e_1}(t,x_1,x') = \lambda t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} W(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}(x_1-1)), \qquad (4.29)$$

is a super solution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} , which satisfies

(i)
$$\lim_{t \to 0} w_{e_1}(t, x_1, x') = \infty \quad \text{uniformly in} \quad (-\infty, 1] \times \mathbb{R}^{N-1},$$

(ii)
$$\lim_{t \to 0} w_{e_1}(t, x) = 0 \quad \text{uniformly in} \quad [1 + \epsilon, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N-1}.$$
 (4.30)

Since equation (1.26) is invariant under rotations and translations, for any $a \in \partial B_1$ there exists a rotation \mathcal{R}_a with center 0 such that $\mathcal{R}_a(a) = e_1$. Therefore, the function $(t, x) \mapsto w_a(t, x) := w_{e_1}(t, \mathcal{R}_a(x))$ is a solution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} and it satisfies

(i)
$$\lim_{t \to 0} w_a(t, x) = \infty \qquad \text{uniformly in} \quad \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : \langle x, a \rangle \le 1\},$$

(ii)
$$\lim_{t \to 0} w_{e_1}(t, x) = 0 \qquad \text{uniformly in} \quad \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : \langle x, a \rangle \ge 1 + ge\}.$$
 (4.31)

For $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$, let $u_{k\chi_{B_1}}$ be the solution of

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty$$

$$u(0,.) = k\chi_{B_1} \qquad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(4.32)

Then the sequence $\{u_{k\chi_{B_1}}\}_k$ is increasing. For any $a \in \partial B_1$, $u_{k\chi_{B_1}} \leq w_a$, the following limit exists,

$$u_{\infty,B_1} = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_{k\chi_{B_1}},$$

and there holds

$$u_{\infty,B_1} \le \inf \left\{ w_a : a \in \partial B_1 \right\}$$

This solution u is clearly minimal by construction and the monotonicity of the mapping $R \mapsto u_{\infty,B_R}$ follows.

Remark. In the previous result, the ball B_R can be replaced by any closed convex set with a non-empty interior. If $a \in \partial K$, let H_a be an affine separation hyperplane, with outer normal vector \mathbf{n}_a and

$$H_a^+ = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^N : \langle x - a, \mathbf{n}_a \rangle > 0 \} \text{ and } H_a^- = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^N : \langle x - a, \mathbf{n}_a \rangle < 0 \}.$$

The supersolutions w_a are expressed by

$$(t,x) \mapsto w_a(t,x) = \lambda t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} W(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}} \langle x-a, \mathbf{n}_a \rangle)$$

and have initial trace $(0, \overline{H}_a)$. Then we construct the minimal solution $u = u_{\infty,K}$ of (1.26) with initial trace (0, K) such that

- (i) $\lim_{t\to 0} u(t,x) = \infty$ uniformly in K,
- (*ii*) $\lim_{t \to 0} u(t, x) = 0$ uniformly in $\{x \in K^c : \operatorname{dist}(x, K) \ge \epsilon\} \quad \forall \epsilon > 0.$ (4.33)

Furthermore, the mapping $K \mapsto u_{\infty,K}$ is nondecreasing.

Proposition 4.8 Assume that $N \ge 1$ and $p > 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$. Then for any closed set S such that $\overline{\operatorname{int}(S)} = S$ there exists a positive function $u = u_{\infty,S}$ minimal among the solutions of (1.26) in Q_{∞} which satisfy

- (i) $\lim_{t\to 0} u(t,x) = \infty$ locally uniformly in \mathcal{S} ,
- (*ii*) $\lim_{t\to 0} u(t,x) = 0$ locally uniformly in $\{x \in \mathcal{S}^c : \operatorname{dist}(x,\mathcal{S}) \ge \epsilon\} \quad \forall \epsilon > 0.$ (4.34)

In particular $Tr(u_{\infty,S}) = (\mathcal{S}, 0)$. Furthermore,

$$u_{\mathcal{S},\infty}(t,x) \le c_9 t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} \frac{\ln\left(e + t^{-\frac{1}{s}} (\operatorname{dist}(x,\mathcal{S}))^2\right)}{1 + t^{-\frac{1+2s}{2s}} (\operatorname{dist}(x,\mathcal{S}))^{1+2s}} \qquad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty}.$$
(4.35)

Proof. We first assume that S is compact, hence precompact, and for any $\delta > 0$ there exists a finite number of points $\xi_j \in S$, $1 \leq j \leq n_{\delta}$ such that

$$\mathcal{S} \subset \bigcup_{j=I}^{n_{\delta}} \overline{B}_{\delta}(\xi_j) := \mathcal{S}_{\delta}.$$

Clearly the mapping $\delta \mapsto n_{\delta}$ is nondecreasing, furthermore we can choose the points ξ_j such that $\delta \mapsto S_{\delta}$ is decreasing for the order relation of inclusion between sets. Since p > 1, the function

$$w_{\mathcal{S}_{\delta}} := \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\delta}} u_{\infty, \overline{B}_{\delta}(\xi_j)}, \tag{4.36}$$

(4.37)

is a supersolution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} and by Lemma 4.7 it satisfies

(*i*) $\lim_{t\to 0} w_{\mathcal{S}_{\delta}}(t, x) = \infty$ uniformly in \mathcal{S}_{δ} , (*ii*) $\lim_{t\to 0} w_{\mathcal{S}_{\delta}}(t, x) = 0$ uniformly in $\{x \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}^{c} : \operatorname{dist}(x, \mathcal{S}_{\delta}) \ge \epsilon\} \quad \forall \epsilon > 0.$

For $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ let $u_{k\chi_S}$ be the solution of (1.26) in Q_∞ with initial data $k\chi_S$. It exists since S has a non-empty interior, and it coincides with the solution of (1.26) in Q_∞ with initial data $k\chi_{int(S)}$. Clearly there holds $u_{k\chi_S} \leq w_{S_\delta}$ and the sequence $\{u_{k\chi_S}\}_k$ is increasing, then there exists

$$u_{\infty,\mathcal{S}} = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_{k\chi_{\mathcal{S}}}.$$

It is a positive solution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} which tends to infinity on S, by construction, and satisfies $u_{\infty,S} \leq w_{S_{\delta}}$. This implies in particular that for any $\epsilon > 0$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} u_{\infty, \mathcal{S}}(t, x) = 0 \quad \text{uniformly in} \quad \{ x \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}^c : \text{dist} (x, \mathcal{S}_{\delta}) \ge \epsilon \}$$

Since this holds for any $\delta, \epsilon > 0$, the second assertion in (4.34) follows.

If S is unbounded, for any $\rho > 0$ large enough, $S^{\rho} := S \cap \overline{B}_{\rho}$ is a nonempty compact set and $S^{\rho} = \overline{\operatorname{int}}(S^{\rho})$. Hence there exists a solution $u_{\infty,S^{\rho}}$ of (1.26) in Q_{∞} with initial trace $(0, S^{\rho})$. By construction $\rho \mapsto u_{\infty,S^{\rho}}$ is nondecreasing and converges to a nonnegative solution $u_{\infty,S}$ of (1.26) in Q_{∞} . Let $a = (a_1, ..., a_N) \in S^c$ and $\tau > 0$ such that

$$Q_a^{\tau} = \{x = (x_1, ..., x_N) : |x_j - a_j| \le \tau\} \subset \mathcal{S}^c.$$

We put

$$W_j(t, x_j) = \lambda t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} \left(W(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}(x_j - a_j + \tau) + W(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}(a_j + \tau - x_j)) \right)$$

with $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$, then W_j is a supersolution of (1.26) in $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}$ and it satisfies

(i)
$$\lim_{\substack{t \to 0 \\ t \to 0}} W_j(t, x) = 0 \qquad \text{locally uniformly in } (a_j - \tau, a_j + \tau),$$

(ii)
$$\lim_{\substack{t \to 0 \\ t \to 0}} W_j(t, x) = \infty \qquad \text{uniformly in } (-\infty, a_j - \tau] \bigcup [a_j + \tau, \infty).$$

Hence $W_{Q_a^{\tau}}(t,x) = \sum_j W_j(t,x)$ is a supersolution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} and it satisfies

(i)
$$\lim_{t \to 0} W_{Q_a^{\tau}}(t, x) = 0$$
 locally uniformly in Q_a^{τ} ,
(ii)
$$\lim_{t \to 0} W_{Q_a^{\tau}}(t, x) = \infty$$
 uniformly in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus Q_a^{\tau}$.

By construction $u_{\infty,S^{\rho}} \leq W_{Q_a^{\tau}}$ which implies $u_{\infty,S} \leq W_{Q_a^{\tau}}$. Hence $u_{\infty,S}$ satisfies (4.34). The estimate from above can be made more precise (it does not depend from the fact that $S = \overline{\operatorname{int}} S$) using (4.16) since

$$W_{Q_a^{\tau}}(a) \le 2N\lambda t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} \frac{\ln\left(e+t^{-\frac{1}{s}}\tau^2\right)}{1+t^{-\frac{1+2s}{2s}}\tau^{1+2s}}.$$
(4.38)

If we take $\tau = \frac{\text{dist}(a,S)}{\sqrt{N}}$, we obtain (4.35). Furthermore $u_{\infty,S}$ is clearly minimal as the limit of an increasing sequence of solutions with bounded initial data having compact support.

4.4 Proof of Theorem I

If $K \subset \mathcal{R}$ is compact, then $\nu_K = \chi_K \nu \in \mathfrak{M}^b_+(\mathcal{R})$; we extend it by zero and still denote by $\nu_K \in \mathfrak{M}^b(\mathbb{R}^N)$ its extension. For $\rho > 0$, $\mathcal{S}^\rho := \mathcal{S} \cap \overline{B}_\rho$ and for $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $\ell \chi_{S_\rho} dx$ is a good measure. Since ν_K is a good measure, $\nu_K + \ell \chi_{S_\rho} dx$ is a good measure by Proposition 4.1. Then there exists a solution $u := u_{\nu_K + \ell \chi_{S_\rho}} dx$ of (4.1) in Q_∞ with initial data $\nu_K + \ell \chi_{S_\rho} dx$ and it satisfies

$$\sup\left\{u_{\nu_{K}}, u_{\ell\chi_{\mathcal{S}_{\rho}}dx}\right\} \le u_{\nu_{K}+\ell\chi_{\mathcal{S}_{\rho}}dx} \le u_{\nu_{K}} + u_{\ell\chi_{\mathcal{S}_{\rho}}dx} \le u_{\nu_{K}} + u_{\infty,\mathcal{S}}.$$
(4.39)

Since $(\ell, \rho) \mapsto u_{\ell\chi_{S_{\rho}}dx}$ is increasing, we can let ℓ and ρ go to infinity successively and obtain that $u_{\nu_{K}+\ell\chi_{S_{\rho}}dx}$ converges to a positive solution \tilde{u}_{K} of (1.26) in Q_{∞} and that

$$\sup\left\{u_{\nu_K}, u_{\infty, \mathcal{S}}\right\} \le \tilde{u}_K \le u_{\nu_K} + u_{\infty, \mathcal{S}}.$$
(4.40)

This estimate implies that $Tr(\tilde{u}_K) = (S, \nu_K)$. To end the proof we consider an increasing sequence $\{K_n\}$ of compact sets such that $\bigcup_n K_n = \mathcal{R}$. Then estimate (4.40) holds with Kreplaced by K_n . Furthermore the sequences $\{u_{\nu K_n}\}$ and $\{\tilde{u}_{K_n}\}$ are increasing. In order to prove that the sequence $\{u_{\nu K_n}\}$ converges to some solution \tilde{u}_{ν} of (1.26) in Q_{∞} which admits ν as the regular part of its initial trace, for R > 0 we write $\nu_{K_n} = \chi_{\overline{B}_R} \nu_{K_n} + \chi_{\overline{B}_R^c} \nu_{K_n}$ (both solutions exist since K_n is admissible). Then

$$u_{\nu_{K_n}} \le u_{\chi_{\overline{B}_R}\nu_{K_n}} + u_{\chi_{B_R^c}\nu_{K_n}} \le u_{\chi_{\overline{B}_R}\nu} + u_{\infty,B_R^c \cap K_n} \le u_{\chi_{\overline{B}_R}\nu} + u_{\infty,B_R^c \cap \overline{\mathcal{R}}}, \tag{4.41}$$

which implies that the following limit exists and satisfies the upper estimate for any R > 0,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} u_{\nu_{K_n}} := \tilde{u}_{\nu} \le u_{\chi_{\overline{B}_R} \nu_K} + u_{\infty, B_R^c} \cap \overline{\mathcal{R}}.$$
(4.42)

In turns it implies

$$\sup \left\{ \tilde{u}_{\nu}, u_{\infty, \mathcal{S}} \right\} \le \lim_{n \to \infty} u_{K_n} := \tilde{u} \le \tilde{u}_{\nu} + u_{\infty, \mathcal{S}}.$$

$$(4.43)$$

Furthermore, since R > 0 in inequality (4.42) we infer that ν is the regular part of the initial trace of \tilde{u}_{ν} (notice that the singular part is not empty since ν can be unbounded). Hence $Tr(\tilde{u}) = (S, \nu)$.

4.5 Proof of Corollary K, part (a)

If ν vanishes on Borel sets with zero $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}$ -capacity, for any compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}^N$, $\nu_K := \chi_K \nu$ vanishes also on the same Borel sets. Hence there exists a solution u_{ν_K} to (4.1) with initial data ν_K (instead of ν). Next we replace K by an increasing sequence $\{\overline{B}_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}^*}$, and set $\nu_n = \chi_{\overline{B}_n} \nu$. Estimate (4.41) holds in the form

$$u_{\nu_{K_n}} \le u_{\chi_{\overline{B}_R}}{}^{\nu} + u_{\infty,B_R^c} \qquad \forall \, n, R \ge 1.$$

This implies that \tilde{u}_{ν} satisfies the same estimate for any R > 0, which in turn implies that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \tilde{u}_{\nu}(t, x) \zeta(x) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \zeta d\nu \qquad \forall \, \zeta \in C_0^2(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

Hence $Tr(\tilde{u}_{\nu}) = (\{\emptyset\}, \nu)$. The fact that $\tilde{u}_{\nu} \in L^{1}_{loc}(0, T; \mathcal{L}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}))$ follows from the upper estimate $0 \leq \tilde{u}_{\nu} \leq U_{p,\beta}$.

Conversaly (and here we do not use the assumption $p > 1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}$), if $u \in L^1_{loc}(0,\infty;\mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N))$ is a solution with initial trace $Tr(u) = (\{\emptyset\}, \nu)$, then $u \leq U_{p,\beta}$, by Theorem D. We proceed as in the proof of Proposition 4.5. Let $K \subset B_R \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be compact and $\Theta \in C_0^\infty(B_{2R})$ such that $0 \leq \Theta \leq 1$ and $\Theta = 1$ on \overline{B}_R . Since

$$\|\Theta\phi\|_{W^{k,p'}} \le c(k,p) \|\phi\|_{W^{k,p'}} \qquad \forall \phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$ by Leibnitz formula, it follows by interpolation that

$$\|\Theta\phi\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} \le c(s,p) \|\phi\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} \quad \forall \phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$
(4.44)

If $T \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ satisfies

$$\sup_{t>0} |t^{j-1}T(j)(t)| \le L < \infty, \qquad \forall \, j = 0, 1, ..., \ell := \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p}\right] + 1,$$

then, by the smooth truncation theorem (see [1, Th. 3.3.3]),

$$\|T\left(\mathbf{J}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p}}[\phi]\right)\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} \le AL\|\mathbf{J}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p}}[\phi]\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} := AL\|\phi\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} \qquad \forall \phi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$
(4.45)

If we take in particular a function T with value 1 in $[1, \infty)$ we infer that if $\operatorname{cap}_{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}^{\mathbb{R}^N}(K) = 0$, there exists a sequence $\{\zeta_n\} \subset C_0^{\ell}(B_{2R})$ such that $0 \leq \zeta_n \leq 1$, $\zeta_n = 1$ on K and $\|\zeta_n\|_{L^{\frac{2s(1+\beta)}{p},p'}} \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. We set $\Phi_n = e^{-\delta t} \mathbb{H}_s[\zeta_n]$ and take $\Phi_n^{p'}$ for test function. Then for any $\epsilon > 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (u\Phi_n^{p'})(1,x)dx + 2p' \left(\int_{\epsilon}^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^{-\frac{p'\beta}{p}} \left| (-\Delta)^s \Phi_n + \delta \Phi_n \right|^{p'} dx dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left(\int_{\epsilon}^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^\beta u^p \Phi_n^{p'} dx dt \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &+ \int_{\epsilon}^1 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} t^\beta u^p \Phi_n^{p'} dx dt \ge \int_{B_{2R}} (u\Phi_n^{p'})(\epsilon,x) dx. \end{split}$$

When $\epsilon \to 0$, the right-hand side of the above inequality converges to $\int_{B_{2R}} \zeta_n^{p'} d\nu \ge \nu(K)$. Furthermore, we have that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (u\Phi_n^{p'})(1, x) dx = 0,$$

by the dominated convergence theorem since $u \leq U_{p,\beta}$ and $\Phi_n^{p'}(1,x) \to 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$, and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\epsilon}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} t^{-\frac{p'\beta}{p}} \left| (-\Delta)^{s} \Phi_{n} + \delta \Phi_{n} \right|^{p'} dx dt = 0,$$

as in the proof of Proposition ??. For the last term, we have

$$\int_{\epsilon}^{1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} t^{\beta} u^{p} \Phi_{n}^{p'} dx dt = \int_{\epsilon}^{1} \int_{B_{2R}} t^{\beta} u^{p} \Phi_{n}^{p'} dx dt + \int_{\epsilon}^{1} \int_{B_{2R}^{c}} t^{\beta} u^{p} \Phi_{n}^{p'} dx dt := I_{\epsilon,n} + J_{\epsilon,n}.$$

By assumption $t^{\beta}u^{p} \in L^{1}((0,1) \times B_{2R})$, then $\lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} I_{\epsilon,n} = 0$ by the dominated convergence theorem. Finally, since $u \leq U_{p,\beta}$ by Theorem H and $H_{s}(t,x) \leq \frac{ct}{t^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |x|^{N+2s}}$ by (1.35), we

obtain with various c > 0 independent of R

$$\begin{split} J_{\epsilon,n} &\leq c \int_{\epsilon}^{1} \int_{B_{3R}^{c}} t^{(1-p')\beta} \left(\int_{B_{2R}} \frac{dy}{t^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |x-y|^{N+2s}} \right)^{p'} dx dt \\ &\leq c R^{Np'} \int_{\epsilon}^{1} t^{(1-p')\beta} \int_{B_{3R}^{c}} \frac{dx}{\left(t^{1+\frac{N}{2s}} + |x|^{N+2s}\right)^{p'}} \\ &\leq c R^{Np'} \int_{\epsilon}^{1} t^{(1-p')\beta + \frac{N}{2s} - \frac{(N+2s)p'}{2s}} \int_{3Rt^{-\frac{1}{2s}}}^{\infty} \frac{r^{N-1}}{\left(1 + r^{N+2s}\right)^{p'}} \\ &\leq c R^{N-2sp'} \int_{\epsilon}^{1} t^{(1-p')\beta} dt \\ &\leq c \frac{R^{N-2sp'}}{(p'-1)\beta - 1}. \end{split}$$

(Note that the assumption $\beta < p-1$ is crucial). Hence $\lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} I_{\epsilon,n} = 0$, always by the dominated convergence theorem. This implies that $\nu(K) = 0$.

5 The subcritical case

For equation (1.26), the subcritical case corresponds to the fact that

$$u_{\infty}(t,x) = V(t,x) = t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}v(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}x) \qquad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty},$$

where v is the minimal positive solution of (1.31).

5.1 Proof of Theorem J

Proposition 5.1 Assume that $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{N+2s} and <math>u$ is a nonnegative solution of (1.32) where $S \neq \emptyset$. Then

$$u(t,x) \ge \frac{c_{10}t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}}{1 + (t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}d(x,\mathcal{S}))^{N+2s}} \qquad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty}.$$
(5.1)

for some $c_{10} > 0$.

Proof. By Theorem C, for any $x_0 \in \mathcal{S}$,

$$u(t,x) \ge u_{\infty}(t,x-x_0) = t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}v(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}(x-x_0)) \qquad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty},$$

which implies that

$$u(t,x) \ge t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} \sup_{x_0 \in \mathcal{S}} v(t^{-\frac{1}{2s}}(x-x_0)) \qquad \forall (t,x) \in Q_{\infty}.$$
 (5.2)

The maximum of V is achieved at 0, hence, for any $x \in \mathcal{S}$,

$$u(t,x) \ge t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}} V(0) = c_{11} t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}.$$
(5.3)

If $x \in S^c$, there exists $\bar{x} \in S$ such that dist $(x, S) = |x - \bar{x}|$. It follows from [28, Theorem 1.2] that,

$$u(t,x) \ge \frac{c_{10}t^{-\frac{1+\beta}{p-1}}}{1 + (t^{-\frac{1}{2s}} \text{dist}\,(x,\mathcal{S}))^{N+2s}}.$$
(5.4)

Then (5.1) holds true.

The next result shows that any closed set can be the singular set of the initial trace of a positive solution of (1.26).

Proposition 5.1 Assume that $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s} and <math>S \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ is a nonempty closed set. Then there exists a minimal solution $u := u_{S,\infty}$ with initial trace (S, 0). Furthermore it satisfies (4.35).

Proof. We first notice that the condition $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s} is equivalent to the conditions stated in Theorem J, i.e.$

(i) either
$$N = 1$$
 and $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}
(ii) or $N = 2, \ \frac{1}{2} \le s < 1$ and $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{1+2s}
(5.5)$$

Let $A := \{z_n\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}\}$ be a countable dense subset of \mathcal{S} . For $k \in \mathbb{N}_*$, set

$$\mu_k = k \sum_{j=1}^k \delta_{z_j},\tag{5.6}$$

and let $u = u_{\mu_k}$ be the solution of

$$\partial_t u + (-\Delta)^s u + t^\beta u^p = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad Q_\infty$$
$$u(0, .) = \mu_k \quad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(5.7)

The sequence $\{u_{\mu_k}\}$ is increasing. If $a \in S^c$ and $d_a = \text{dist}(a, S)$. By construction there holds

$$u_{\mu_k} \le u_{B^c_{da}(a),\infty}.\tag{5.8}$$

Hence u_{μ_k} converges to some solution \tilde{u} of (1.26) in Q_{∞} which has zero initial trace on $B_{d_a}(a)$, for any $a \in \mathcal{S}^c$ since (5.8) still holds with \tilde{u} instead of u_{μ_k} , and satisfies $\tilde{u} \ge u_{z_j,\infty}$ for any $z_j \in A$. Hence $Tr(\tilde{u}) = (\mathcal{S}, 0)$. Estimate (4.35) is independent of the geometry of \mathcal{S} .

Proof of Theorem J. It is similar to the one of Theorem I. We consider an increasing sequence of compact sets $\{K_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ included in \mathcal{R} such that $\bigcup_k K_k = \mathcal{R}$, set $\nu_k = \chi_{K_k} \nu$ and $\tilde{\nu}_k = \nu_k + \mu_k$, where μ_k is defined by (5.6). Then the solution of (1.26) with initial data $\tilde{\nu}_k$ satisfies

$$\sup\{u_{\nu_k}, u_{\mu_k}\} \le u_{\tilde{\nu}_k} \le u_{\nu_k} + u_{\mu_k}.$$
(5.9)

By the same argument as in the proof of Theorem I, the sequence $\{u_{\nu_k}\}$ is increasing and converges to a solution u_{ν} (1.26) with initial trace $(\{\emptyset\}, \nu)$. Hence the sequence $\{u_{\tilde{\nu}_k}\}$ which is also increasing. converges to some solution \tilde{u} of (1.26) which satisfies

$$\sup\{u_{\nu}, u_{\infty,\mathcal{S}}\} \le \tilde{u} \le u_{\nu} + u_{\infty,\mathcal{S}}.$$
(5.10)

Then \tilde{u} has initial trace (\mathcal{S}, ν) .

The proof of Corollary K, part (b) is straightforward.

Remark. We conjecture that the following more general version of Theorem J holds: For any integer $\kappa \in [1, N]$ any p > 1 such that $1 + \frac{2s(1+\beta)}{\kappa+2s} , any closed set <math>S$ contained in an affine plane of codimension κ and any bounded measure in S^c , there exists a solution u of problem (1.32). We notice that the condition on p can be fulfilled for some p if and only if $N - \kappa < 2s$, hence either $\kappa = N$ i.e. S is a single point and no condition on s, or $\kappa = N - 1$ hence S is contained in a straight line and $\frac{1}{2} < s < 1$.

5.2 Proof of Theorem L

The proof uses the method developed in [48]. The function

$$\tilde{\phi}(x) = \inf\{\phi(y) : |y| \ge |x|\},$$
(5.11)

is radial, nondecreasing, smaller that ϕ and we write it as $\phi(|x|)$. Furthermore it satisfies

$$\lim_{|x| \to \infty} |x|^{-\frac{2s}{p-1}} \tilde{\phi}(x) > 0.$$
(5.12)

We set

$$\tilde{\phi}_n(x) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\phi}(x) & \text{if } |x| \le n \\ \tilde{\phi}(n) & \text{if } |x| > n. \end{cases}$$

The existence of a solution $u_{\tilde{\phi}_n}$ of (1.26) with initial trace $(\{\emptyset, \tilde{\phi}_n\}$ follows from the fact that $\mathbb{H}_s[\tilde{\phi}_n]$ exists by [15] and that $\mathbb{H}_s[\tilde{\phi}_n] \ge u_{\tilde{\phi}_n\chi_{B_k}}$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Hence $u_{\tilde{\phi}_n}$ is the increasing limit of $u_{\tilde{\phi}_n\chi_{B_k}}$ when $k \to \infty$. it is obtained by replacing $\tilde{\phi}_n$ by $\tilde{\phi}_n\chi_{B_k}$ and by letting $k \to \infty$. The solution Y_n of the differential equation $Y'(t) + t^{\beta}Y^p(t) = 0$ with initial data $Y(0) = \tilde{\phi}(n)$ is expressed by

$$Y_n(t) = \frac{\phi(n)}{\left(1 + \frac{p-1}{\beta+1}t^{\beta+1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}\right)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}}.$$
(5.13)

It larger than $u_{\tilde{\phi}_n}$. Let us denote by w_n the solution of

$$\partial_t w_n + (-\Delta)^s w_n + t^\beta Y_n^{p-1}(t) w_n = 0 \qquad \text{in} \quad (0,\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^N$$
$$w_n(0,x) = \tilde{\phi}_n(x) \qquad \text{in} \quad \mathbb{R}^N.$$
(5.14)

Since $Y_n^{p-1} \ge u_{\tilde{\phi}_n}^{p-1}$, w_n is smaller that $u_{\tilde{\phi}_n}$, moreover w_n can be explicitly computed

$$w_n(t,x) = e^{-\int_0^t s^\beta Y_n^{p-1}(s)ds} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_s(t,x-y)\tilde{\phi}_n(y)dy.$$
(5.15)

In particular,

$$\begin{split} w_n(t,0) &= e^{-\int_0^t s^\beta Y_n^{p-1}(s)ds} \left(\int_{B_n} H_s(t,y) \tilde{\phi}_n(y) dy + \int_{B_n^c} H_s(t,y) \tilde{\phi}_n(y) dy \right) \\ &\geq ct e^{-\int_0^t s^\beta Y_n^{p-1}(s)ds} \tilde{\phi}(n) \int_{B_n^c} \frac{dy}{t^{\frac{N+2s}{2s}} + |y|^{N+2s}} \\ &\geq ct e^{-\int_0^t s^\beta Y_n^{p-1}(s)ds} \tilde{\phi}(n) \int_n^\infty \frac{r^{N-1}dr}{t^{\frac{N+2s}{2s}} + r^{N+2s}} \\ &\geq ct n^{-2s} e^{-\int_0^t s^\beta Y_n^{p-1}(s)ds} \tilde{\phi}(n). \end{split}$$

Next

$$-\int_0^t s^{\beta} Y_n^{p-1}(s) ds = -\int_0^t \frac{s^{\beta}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1} ds}{1 + \frac{p-1}{\beta+1} t^{\beta+1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}} = -\frac{1}{p-1} \ln\left(1 + \frac{p-1}{\beta+1} t^{\beta+1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}\right).$$

We write

$$tn^{-2s}e^{-\int_0^t s^\beta Y_n^{p-1}(s)ds}\tilde{\phi}(n) = e^{\ln\left(t\tilde{\phi}(n)\right) - 2s\ln n - \frac{1}{p-1}\ln\left(1 + \frac{p-1}{\beta+1}t^{\beta+1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}\right)}$$
$$= e^{\frac{1}{p-1}\ln\left(\frac{t^{p-1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}}{n^{2s(p-1)}\left(1 + \frac{p-1}{\beta+1}t^{\beta+1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}\right)}\right)}.$$

If we take $t = t_n$ such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} t_n^{\frac{\beta+1}{p-1}} \tilde{\phi}(n) = +\infty, \tag{5.16}$$

the expansion of the term in the logarithm gives

$$\frac{t^{p-1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}}{n^{2s(p-1)}\left(1+\frac{p-1}{\beta+1}t^{\beta+1}(\tilde{\phi}(n))^{p-1}\right)} = \frac{\beta+1}{p-1}n^{-2s(p-1)}t_n^{p-2-\beta}(1+o(1)) \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$
(5.17)

If besides (5.16) it is assumed that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{-2s(p-1)} t_n^{p-2-\beta} = +\infty,$$
(5.18)

we infer that $w_n(0, t_n) \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$. Clearly the origin can be replaced by any $z \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and the previous calculation shows that this limit is uniform for z belonging to compact sets on \mathbb{R}^N . Since $u_{\tilde{\phi}_n} \ge w_n$, we infer that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} u_{\tilde{\phi}_n}(t_n, z) = +\infty \Longrightarrow \lim_{n \to \infty} u_{\tilde{\phi}_n} = u_\infty = U_{p,\beta},\tag{5.19}$$

by using (1.29).

6 Appendix: symmetry and monotonicity results

The following is a variant of the maximum principle which will be used in the sequel.

Lemma 6.1 Let R, T > 0, $\delta \in [0, T)$ and Q be a domain of Q_{∞} such that $\overline{Q} \subset (\delta, T) \times B_R$. Assume that $h \ge 0$ in Q and $\psi \in C(\overline{Q})$ satisfies

$$\partial_t \psi + (-\Delta)^s \psi + h(t, x) \psi \ge 0 \quad \text{in } Q$$

$$\psi \ge 0 \quad \text{in } ([\delta, T) \times B_R) \setminus Q.$$
(6.1)

Then ψ is nonnegative in $[\delta, T] \times B_R$.

Proof. Let $\epsilon \in (0, T - \delta]$. We first claim that ψ is nonnegative in $[\delta, T - \epsilon] \times B_R$. If it does not hold, and since $\psi \ge 0$ in $([\delta, T) \times B_R) \setminus Q$, then there exists $(t_0, x_0) \in Q \cap ([\delta, T - \epsilon] \times B_R)$ such that

$$\psi(t_0, x_0) = \min_{(t,x) \in [\delta, T-\epsilon] \times B_R} \psi(t, x) < 0.$$

Then $\partial_t \psi(t_0, x_0) \leq 0$ and $(-\Delta)^s \psi(t_0, x_0) < 0$. Since $h \geq 0$ in Q and $(t_0, x_0) \in Q$, there holds

 $\partial_t \psi(t_0, x_0) + (-\Delta)^s \psi(t_0, x_0) + h(t_0, x_0) \psi(t_0, x_0) < 0,$

which is a contradiction. Thus, ψ is nonnegative in $[\delta, T - \epsilon] \times B_R$. Since ϵ is arbitrary, the result follows. Notice that we can take $R = \infty$ in the above proof provided Q is a bounded domain.

Next we prove the following result.

Proposition 6.1 Let $N \ge 1$, $\beta > -1$, p > 1 and $g \in C(\mathbb{R}^N)$ be a nonnegative continuous radially symmetric and nonincreasing function which tends to 0 when $|x| \to \infty$. If $u \in L^1_{loc}(0,\infty; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap C(\overline{Q}_{\infty})$ is a nonnegative solution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} which converges to g uniformly when $t \to 0$, then u is radially symmetric and nonincreasing.

Proof. Since $u \in L^1_{loc}(0,\infty; \mathcal{L}^s(\mathbb{R}^N)) \cap C(\overline{Q}_{\infty})$, it is bounded from above by $\mathbb{H}_s[g]$ and uniqueness holds as for the linear equation [15]. Since the initial data is radially symmetric and the equation is invariant by rotations in \mathbb{R}^N , u(t, .) is also radially symmetric. Because of uniqueness and stability, it is sufficient to prove the result for a function u which initial data is obtained from the previous one by multiplying it by a smooth, even, nonincreasing and nonnegative function with compact support. The corresponding solution of (1.26) in Q_{∞} , still denoted by u, is smooth in Q_{∞} and bounded from above by $\mathbb{H}_s[g]$. Hence it satisfies

- (i) $\lim_{t \to \infty} u(t, x) = 0$ uniformly in $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$,
- (*ii*) $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} u(t,x) = 0$ uniformly in $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$, (6.2)
- (*iii*) $\lim_{t\to 0} u(t,x) = g(x)$ uniformly in $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

Next we use a moving plane method (see [44] for other applications). For $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, we set

 $x_{\lambda} = (2\lambda - x_1, x')$ if $x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}^N$,

$$\Sigma_{\lambda} = \{ x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}^N \mid x_1 < \lambda \}$$
(6.3)

and

$$T_{\lambda} = \{ x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}^N \mid x_1 = \lambda \}.$$

We observe that if $\lambda > 0$, then $\{x_{\lambda} \mid x \in \Sigma_{\lambda}\} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^{N} \mid x_{1} > \lambda\}$ and

$$|x_{\lambda}| > |x| \quad \text{for } x \in \Sigma_{\lambda}.$$
(6.4)

We claim that for any $\lambda > 0$,

$$u(t,x) \ge u(t,x_{\lambda}) \qquad \forall (t,x) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \Sigma_{\lambda}.$$
(6.5)

Set $\varphi(t,x) = u(t,x) - u(t,x_{\lambda})$ and suppose that (6.5) does not hold. Because of (6.2) there holds $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} \varphi(t,x) = 0$ uniformly with respect to $t \ge 0$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} \varphi(t,x) = 0$ uniformly with respect to $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $\lim_{t\to0} \varphi(t,x) = g(x) - g(x_{\lambda}) \ge 0$ uniformly with respect to $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$. It follows that there exists $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ and $(t_0, x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \Sigma_{\lambda}$ such that

$$\varphi(t_0, x_0) = \min_{(t,x)\in\overline{\Sigma}_{\lambda}} \varphi(t, x) = -\varepsilon_0 < 0.$$
(6.6)

The function ϕ satisfies

$$\partial_t \phi + (-\Delta)^s \phi + h(t, x)\phi = 0 \quad \text{in } Q_\infty,$$
(6.7)

for some $h(t,x) \geq 0$, and it has initial data $\phi(0,x) = g(x) - g(x_{\lambda})$ in \mathbb{R}^{N} . Take $\epsilon \in (0,\epsilon_{0})$ and set $\phi_{\epsilon} = \phi + \epsilon$. Using (6.2) we see that there exists $T_{0} > t_{0} > 0$ and $R_{0} > |x_{0}| > 0$ such that $\phi_{\epsilon}(t,x) \geq 0$ for $(t,x) \in ([T,\infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{N}) \bigcup ([0,\infty) \times B_{R}^{c})$, for all $T \geq T_{0}$ and $R \geq R_{0}$. Furthermore there exists $\delta_{0} \in (0,t_{0})$ such that for any $\delta \in (0,\delta_{0})$ such that $\phi_{\epsilon}(t,x) \geq 0$ for $(t,x) \in [0,\delta) \times (\mathbb{R}^{N} \cap \Sigma_{\lambda})$. We set

$$Q = \Sigma_{\lambda} \cap (\delta, T_0) \times B_{R_0}.$$

We apply Lemma 6.1 in $[\frac{\delta}{2}, T] \times B_R$ and conclude that $\phi_{\epsilon} \geq 0$ in $[\frac{\delta}{2}, T] \times B_R$, which contradicts the fact that $\phi_{\epsilon}(t_0, x_0) = \epsilon - \epsilon_0 < 0$. Hence (6.5) holds. Since $\lambda > 0$ is arbitrary, this implies in particular by continuity that

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}(t, x_1, x') \le 0 \qquad \forall (t, x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^{N-1}.$$
(6.8)

Similarly, we can get that

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1}(t, x_1, x') \ge 0 \qquad \forall (t, x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}_- \times \mathbb{R}^{N-1}.$$
(6.9)

Since u(t, x) is radially symmetric with respect to x, it implies that $u(t, x) \ge u(t, x')$ if $|x| \le |x'|$, which ends the proof.

References

- D. R. Adams and L. I. Hedberg. Function Spaces and Potential Theory, Grundleren der mathematischen Wissenschaften **314** 2nd ed., Springer, 366+xi (1999).
- [2] D. R. Adams and M. Pierre. Capacity strong type estimates in semilinear problems, Ann. Inst. Fourier Grenoble 41, 117-135 (1991).
- [3] D. R. Adams and J. C. Polking. The equivalence of two definitions of capacities, Proc. A.M.S. 37, 529-534 (1973).
- [4] W. Al Sayed and L. Véron. Initial trace of solutions of semilinear heat equations with absorption, Nonlinear Analysis 93, 197-225 (2013).
- [5] R. Banuelos and T. Kulczycki. The Cauchy process and the Steklov problem. J. Funct. Anal. 211, 355-423 (2004).
- [6] P. Baras and J. Goldstein. The heat equation with a singular potential. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 284, 121-139 (1984).
- [7] P. Baras and M. Pierre. Problèmes paraboliques semilinéaires avec données mesures. Appl. Anal. 18, 111-149 (1984).
- [8] B. Begoña, I. Peral, F. Soria and E. Valdinocci. A Widders Type Theorem for the Heat Equation with Nonlocal Diffusion. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 213, 629-650 (2014).
- [9] Ph. Bénilan, H. Brezis and M. Crandall. A semilinear elliptic equation in L¹(ℝ^N), Ann. Sc. Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. 2, 523-555 (1975).
- [10] M. F. Bidaut-Véron, E. Chasseigne and L. Véron. Initial trace of solutions of some quasilinear parabolic equations with absorption, J. Funct. Anal. 193, 140-205 (2002).
- [11] M. Bonforte and J. L. Vazquez. Quantitative local and global a priori estimates for fractional nonlinear diffusion equations, Adv. Math. 250, 242-284 (2014).
- [12] M. Bonforte and J. L. Vazquez. A Priori Estimates for Fractional Nonlinear Degenerate Diffusion Equations on bounded domains, Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 218, 317-362 (2015).
- [13] M. Bonforte, A. Figalli and X. Ros-Oton. A Priori Estimates for Fractional Nonlinear Degenerate Diffusion Equations on bounded domains, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 70, 1472-1508 (2017).
- [14] M. Bonforte, A. Figalli and J. L. Vazquez. Sharp global estimates for local and nonlocal porous medium-type equations in bounded domains, *Analysis& PDE* 11, 945-982 (2018).
- [15] M. Bonforte, Y. Sire and J. L. Vazquez. Optimal existence and uniqueness theory for the fractional heat equation, *Nonlinear Analysis* 153, 142-168 (2017).

- [16] K. Bogdan, T. Byczkowski, T. Kulczycki, M. Ryznar, R. Song and Z. Vondraek Potential Analysis of Stable Processes and its Extensions. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1980, Springer (2009).
- [17] H. Brezis. Nonlinear elliptic equation in \mathbb{R}^N without condition at infinity, *Appl. Math. Opt.* **12**, 271-282 (1985).
- [18] H. Brezis and A. Friedman. Nonlinear parabolic equations involving measures as initial conditions, J. Math. Pures Appl. 62, 73-97 (1983).
- [19] H. Brezis, L. A. Peletier and D. Terman. A very singular solution of the heat equation with absorption, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 95, 185-209 (1986).
- [20] L. Caffarelli, C. Chan and A. Vasseur. Regularity theory for nonlinear integral operators, J. American Mathematical Society, 24, 849-869 (2011).
- [21] L. Caffarelli and A. Figalli. Regularity of solutions to the parabolic fractional obstacle problem, *Journal für die Reine und Angewandte Mathematik* **680**, 191-233 (2013).
- [22] H. Chang Lara and G. Dávila. Regularity for solutions of non local parabolic equations, Cal. Var. Part. Diff. Equ. 49, 139-172 (2014).
- [23] H. Chen, P. Felmer and A. Quaas. Large solution to elliptic equations involving fractional Laplacian, Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré (C) 32, 1199-1228 (2015).
- [24] Z. Chen, P. Kim and R. Song. Heat kernel estimates for the Dirichlet fractional Laplacian. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 12, 1307-1329 (2010).
- [25] H. Chen and L. Véron. Semilinear fractional elliptic equations with gradient nonlinearity involving measures, J. Funct. Anal. 266, 5467-5492 (2014).
- [26] H. Chen and L. Véron. Semilinear fractional elliptic equations involving measures, J. Diff. Eq. 257, 1457-1486 (2014).
- [27] H. Chen and L. Véron. Weakly and strongly singular solutions of semilinear fractional elliptic equations, Asymptotic Analysis 88, 165-184 (2014).
- [28] H. Chen, L. Véron and Y. Wang. Fractional heat equations with subcritical absorption with initial data measure, *Nonlinear Analysis* 137, 306-337 (2016).
- [29] Z. Chen and J. Tokle. Global heat kernel estimates for fractional laplacians in unbounded open sets, *Probab. Theory Related Field* 149, 373-395 (2011).
- [30] A. Cotsiolis and N. K. Tavoularis. Best constants for Sobolev inequalities for higher order fractional derivatives, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 295, 225-236 (2004).
- [31] P. Felmer and Y. Wang. Radial symmetry of positive solutions to equations involving the fractional laplacian, *Commun. Contemp. Math.* 16, 1-24 (2014).

- [32] K. Gkikas and L. Véron. Complete classification of the positive solutions of heat equation with super critical absorption, Adv. Nonlinear Studies 14, 47-113 (2014).
- [33] A. Fino and G. Karch. Decay of mass for nonlinear equation with fractional Laplacian, Monatsh. Math. 160, 375-384 (2010).
- [34] D. Gurarie. On L^p-domains of fractional singular elliptic operators and Kato's conjecture, J. Operator Theory 27, 193-203 (1992).
- [35] S. Kamin and L. A. Peletier. Singular solutions of the heat equation with absorption, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 95, 205-210 (1985).
- [36] M. Marcus. Complete classification of the positive solutions of $-\Delta u + u^q = 0$, J. Anal. Math. 117, 187-220 (2012).
- [37] M. Marcus and L. Véron. Initial trace of positive solutions of some nonlinear parabolic equations, Comm. Part. Diff. Eq. 24, 1445-1499 (1999).
- [38] M. Marcus and L. Véron. Semilinear parabolic equations with measure boundary data and isolated singularities, J. Anal. Math. 85, 245-290 (2001).
- [39] M. Marcus and L. Véron. Initial trace of positive solutions to semilinear parabolic inequalities, Advanced Nonlinear Studies 2, 395-436 (2002).
- [40] M. Marcus and L. Véron. The precise boundary trace of positive solutions of the equation $\Delta u = u^q$ in the supercritical case, Perspective in Nonlinear Analysis, *Contemp. Math.* **446**, 345-383, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, R. I. (2007).
- [41] M. Marcus and L. Véron, Capacitary estimates of solutions of semilinear parabolic equations, Calc. Var. Part. Diff. Eq. 48, 131-183 (2013).
- [42] Y. Naito and T. Suzuki. Radial symmetry of self-similar solutions for semilinear heat equations, J. Diff. Eq. 163, 407-428 (2000).
- [43] T. Nguyen-Phuoc and L. Véron. Initial trace of positive solutions of a class of degenerate heat equation with absorption, *Discrete Cont. Dyn. Systems* 33, 2033-2063 (2011).
- [44] A. de Pablo, F. Quiros, A. Rodriguez and J. L. Vazquez. A general fractional porous medium equation, Comm. Pure Applied Math. 65,1242-1284 (2012), .
- [45] X. Ros-Oton and J. Serra. The Dirichlet problem for the fractional Laplacian: Regularity up to the boundary, J. Math. Pures Appl. 101, 275-302 (2014).
- [46] M. R. Spiegel. Schaum's Outline of Mathematical Handbook of Formulas and Tables (1968).
- [47] E. M. Stein. Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions, Princeton University Press, Princeton N. J. (1970).
- [48] A. Shishkov and L. Véron. Admissible initial growth for diffusion equations with weakly superlinear absorption, *Comm. Contemp. Math.* 18, 1550089 (13 p.) (2016).

- [49] H. Triebel. Interpolation Theory, Function Spaces, Differential Operators, North-Holland Mathematical Library 18, North-Holland (1978).
- [50] L. Véron. Elliptic Equations Involving Measures, in Handbook of Differential Equations, Stationary Partial Differential Equations, vol. 1, 593-712 (2006), Elsevier.
- [51] D. V. Widder. Positive Temperatures on an Infinite Rod, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 55, 85-95 (1944).